Characterising swamp biodiversity and community structure with environmental DNA



Photo: Upland swamp in the Upper Nepean State Conservation Area, taken by Natalie Caulfield

Natalie Caulfield

Department of Biological Sciences Faculty of Science and Engineering Macquarie University

This thesis is presented for the degree of Master of Research 15th November 2019



This thesis is written in the form of manuscript for submission to the journal of Environmental DNA, with the following exceptions: 1.5 text spacing, line numbers and running title is not included, subheadings are included in the Introduction and Discussion sections, an Aims section has been added, and the Introduction, Methods and Discussion sections are extended.

Declaration

I wish to acknowledge the following assistance in the research detailed in this report:

Anthony Chariton, Rachael Dudaniec, Johan Pansu and Grant Hose for assistance with experimental design. Anthony Chariton, Rachael Dudaniec, Johan Pansu, Jessica O'Hare, Emma Petrolo and Adam Hejl for comments on a draft of this manuscript. Johan Pansu, Anthony Chariton, Grant Hose, Paul Greenfield and Frederic Boyer for assistance with analysis. The New South Wales Government's Saving our Species program through its Office of Environment and Heritage, the Environmental Trust New South Wales and Macquarie University for funding this project.

All other research detailed in this report is my own original work.

Signature:

Natalie Caulfield

15th November 2019

Contents

| Acknowledgementsiv |
|---|
| Abstractv |
| Table of Abbreviationsvi |
| 1. Introduction1 |
| 1.1. Upland Swamps in the Sydney Basin2 |
| 1.2. Monitoring biodiversity |
| 1.3. Research aims and hypothesis |
| 2. Methods |
| 2.1. Study area |
| 2.2. Swamp sites |
| 2.3. Sample collection |
| 2.4. DNA extraction |
| 2.5. DNA amplification |
| 2.5.1. Prokaryote 16S rDNA amplification |
| 2.5.2. Eukaryote 18S rDNA amplification14 |
| 2.6. Eukaryote 18S rDNA purification and sequencing14 |
| 2.7. Sediment analysis15 |
| 2.8. Bioinformatics and taxonomic assignment |
| 2.9. Statistical analysis17 |
| 2.9.1. Physio-chemical attributes of sites17 |
| 2.9.2. eDNA data17 |
| 2.9.2.1. Diversity analysis |
| 2.9.2.2. Community composition |
| 2.9.2.3. Relationship between communities and environmental variables |
| 2.9.2.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of community assemblages |
| 3. Results |
| 3.1. Physio-chemical attributes of sites20 |

| 3.2. Prokaryotic communities |
|---|
| 3.2.1. Diversity of prokaryotic OTUs |
| 3.2.2. Prokaryotic community composition |
| 3.2.3. Relationship between prokaryotic communities and environmental variables |
| 3.2.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of prokaryotic community assemblages |
| 3.3. Eukaryotic communities |
| 3.3.1. Diversity of eukaryotic OTUs |
| 3.3.2. Eukaryotic community composition |
| 3.3.3. Relationship between eukaryotic communities and environmental variables |
| 3.3.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of eukaryotic community assemblages |
| 4. Discussion |
| 4.1. Community patterns |
| 4.2. Relationship with environmental variables |
| 4.3. Multi-scale spatial patterns |
| 4.4. Experimental limitations |
| 4.5. Implications for management and conservation42 |
| 4.6. Future research directions |
| 5. Conclusion |
| References |
| Supplementary Material |

Acknowledgements

There are so many people to thank for their support and help throughout this nine month journey.

Firstly, I want to thank my supervisors. Anthony Chariton, you have always been so enthusiastic and excited about this project from day one. You believed I could do it, encouraging and supporting me every step of the way. Rachael Dudaniec, for developing a project to monitor and help build resilience in these unique and endangered swamp communities, thank you for taking me on, for your help in the field and exploring the swamps with me.

My mentor Johan Pansu, thank you for teaching me everything and taking me under your wing, you dedicated so much of your time to teach me new lab techniques and procedures as well as analysis and statistics. Your enthusiasm and commitment for good scientific work definitely made me work harder and push myself further during this project.

Adam Stow and Grant Hose thank you for your many words of wisdom, guidance, interesting conversations and cheering me up during the hard times.

To my volunteers who committed their time and effort, this project wouldn't have been possible without your hard work and perseverance; Li Levi, Eve Borbilas, Freya Stromsvag, Sonu Yadav, Natasha Garner and Adam Hejl. And a special thanks to Li for starting in the field and continuing in the lab processing samples for months, always with a smile and up for funny conversations.

Thank you to all my lab mates that supported me and gave me their expert advice and help throughout the year; Sonu Yadav, Emma Petrolo, Jessica O'Hare, Wilbur Ashley, Christine Chivas, Maria Di Cairano, Annachiara Codello, Brodie Sutcliffe, Frederic Boyer, Teagan Parker Kielniacz, Julia Verba and Carla Lopes.

Finally, I want to thank my family for being there for me and cheering me on throughout the year. And to my wonderful husband Adam Hejl, for his endless love and support. You have helped me follow my passion for science and adventure in life and I will be forever grateful for everything you do.

Abstract

In the coastal highlands of the Sydney Basin, Australia, upland swamps are a characteristic environment that supports a unique diversity of biota. These ecosystems carry out essential services including hydrological functions and carbon sequestration. They are currently listed as endangered ecosystems under the Threatened Species Conservation Act 1995, with some of the main threats including mining practices and urbanisation. Previous research on these environments have focused on their geomorphological and hydrological features, with little research on the interactions between local environmental factors and species diversity across spatial scales. This thesis used environmental DNA and metabarcoding techniques to characterise prokaryotic and eukaryotic components of biodiversity across three distinct swamp regions; the Blue Mountains, Upper Nepean State Conservation Area and Budderoo National Park. The relationship between these communities and environmental variables was investigated, as well as their diversity and composition across local and regional scales. Our results indicated that prokaryotic communities were shaped by local environmental variables to a greater extent compared to eukaryotic communities, which were more influenced by geographic distance. This research provides an insight into the uniqueness of swamp biodiversity across multiple spatial scales whilst also demonstrating a novel approach for the future monitoring of swamp ecosystems.

Key Words: biomonitoring, eukaryotes, metabarcoding, prokaryotes, spatial scales, swamp

Table of Abbreviations

| Abbreviation | Definition |
|--------------|--|
| THPSS | Temperate Highland Peat Swamps on Sandstone |
| BM | Blue Mountains |
| BNP | Budderoo National Park |
| SCA | Upper Nepean State Conservation Area |
| BMGC | Blue Mountains Grand Canyon |
| BMPR | Blue Mountains Pulpit Rock |
| BMTR | Blue Mountains Trail Road |
| BNP3 | Budderoo National Park site no.3 |
| BNP4 | Budderoo National Park site no.4 |
| BNP6 | Budderoo National Park site no.6 |
| SCA2 | Upper Nepean State Conservation Area site no.2 |
| SCA3 | Upper Nepean State Conservation Area site no.3 |
| SCA8 | Upper Nepean State Conservation Area site no.8 |

1. Introduction

Swamps are ecologically important environments found throughout the world (Lehner & Doll, 2004). They carry out essential ecosystem services including: hydrological functions (Cowley et al., 2018a); carbon sequestration (Treague & Abbott, 2003); nutrient cycling (Akamatsu et al., 2009); and microclimate regulation (McLaughlin & Cohen, 2013). These services support life on Earth and are sustained by a healthy diversity of plant, animal and microbial life (Cardinale et al., 2011). However, many of these environments are under threat due to anthropogenic impacts and environmental degradation, such as: mining practices (Krogh, 2007); urbanisation (O'Driscoll et al., 2010); eutrophication (Smith, 2003); pollution; and the invasion of exotic plants and animals (Wright et al., 2017; Wright et al., 2011).

All swamps consist of three typical features: 1) soils that have poor drainage; 2) a unique flora that has adapted to characteristic wetland conditions; and 3) periodically waterlogged soils (Burton, 2009). The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands classifies swamps based on their specific geomorphological and hydrological features as well as the biota they support (Ramsar, 1971). These distinguishing features classify unique swamp environments, for example: peatlands (Fryirs et al., 2014; Pemberton, 2005; Posa et al., 2011); swamp forests (Deb et al., 2016; Villa & Mitsch, 2015; Zhao et al., 2018); and mangroves (Akamatsu et al., 2009; Cordeiro & Costa, 2010). The biotic communities that flourish in these environments are often unique and differ from the surrounding areas (Hose et al., 2014; Webb et al., 2012). Both the physical aspects of swamps and the biotic communities that they support drive the ecological functions that these systems carry out, most notably hydrological processes (Bullock & Acreman, 2003; Horwitz & Finlayson, 2011) and the ability to store carbon (Adame & Fry, 2016; Kayranli et al., 2010).

The subsequent introduction aims to provide background information on the upland swamps in the Sydney Basin Region. Here, I will discuss the ecological value of these ecosystems, their unique biota, and the impact of anthropogenic threats on these environmentally sensitive areas. I also provide an overview of the use of molecular techniques for monitoring ecosystems; specifically using environmental DNA (eDNA) metabarcoding to investigate the diversity and community composition of taxa within an area. In addition, I explore how measuring patterns of biodiversity across landscapes can assist in our understanding of species connectivity between suitable habitats. The introduction concludes by detailing the overall objectives of the thesis and postulates several hypotheses specifically regarding swamp community composition driven by environmental factors and geographical distance.

1.1. Upland Swamps in the Sydney Basin

In the coastal highlands of the Sydney Basin, New South Wales, Australia, upland swamps are a characteristic environment found in low-lying sandstone plateaus (Young, 2017). Research conducted by Fryirs et al. (2019) on the spatial distribution of these environments identified 3,208 individual swamps throughout the Sydney Basin. As well as being a predominant feature in the landscape, these areas also carry out important ecological functions which influence both the immediate and wider environment. Many of these upland swamps are classified as peat-forming (Fryirs et al., 2014), with three main types defined by their location in relation to the catchment area as well as the primary source of water: headwater, valley infill and hanging swamps (Commonwealth of Australia, 2014) (Figure 1). It is important to understand the different types of swamps within the region as this directly affects the ecological niches and services they provide. It also informs researchers of their vulnerability to disturbance and uniqueness in order to implement correct protection and management strategies. Peat-forming swamps perform valuable ecosystem services as they are able to accumulate and store large amounts of carbon (Clymo et al., 1998). They also play an important hydrological role, storing water that enters the system via rainfall, runoff or groundwater aquifers (Hose et al., 2014), creating a wet refuge in an otherwise typically dry Australian environment (Keith et al., 2010). These swamps also filter water that flows into the Greater Sydney and Wollongong catchments, supporting an increasingly large urban population (Cowley et al., 2018a; Keith et al., 2006).



Figure 1: Illustration of the hydrological cycle within A) headwater and valley infill swamps, and B) hanging swamps. Water enters the systems via rainfall, runoff or grounwater from perched aquifers (Commonwealth of Australia, 2014).

The ecological communities that dominate these swamps are classified as Temperate Highland Peat Swamps on Sandstone (THPSS) (Young, 2017), and they are defined by the unique biota found within the swamps. The vegetation within these environments is diverse, with wet areas typically consisting of sphagnum bogs and fens, while drier parts support dense shrubs and heathland, with very few trees within their boundaries (Benson, 1997; Carey, 2007; Whinam et al., 2003). The vegetation creates a distinct border, effectively separating the swamp from the wider landscape which is typically woodlands or sclerophyll forests (Keith & Myerscough, 1993) (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Photos of upland swamps highlighting the distinct vegetation differences and clear boundaries. A) An aerial photo of a swamp in the Upper Nepean State Conservation Area showing heathland vegetation within the swamp surrounded by bushland. B) A photo standing within the swamp heathland vegetation with sclerophyll bushland boundary, Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

Due to the insular nature of upland swamp habitats, the communities that they support are vulnerable to disturbance (Nakamura et al., 2015). The THPSS are listed as Endangered Ecological Communities, defined as 'facing a very high risk of extinction in Australia in the near future' (Biodiversity Conservation Act, 2016). As a result of this risk and their importance to hydrological and ecological services, upland swamps are protected by both State (Biodiversity Conservation Act, 2016; Threatened Species Conservation Act, 1995) and Commonwealth legislation (Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999).

Research on the plants and animals found within upland swamps have identified many specialised species that are endemic to these habitats. This includes plants such as *Lepidosperma evansianum*,

Boronia deanei and *Pultenaea glabra*, which are listed as Vulnerable under the NSW Biodiversity Conservation Act (2016) (Carey, 2007; DEC, 2006; Keith & Benson, 1988). Animals such as the Endangered Blue Mountains Water Skink, *Eulamprus leuraensis*, have been described as a swamp specialist that has limited dispersal between swamps, even within close spatial ranges. A genetic study carried out by Dubey and Shine (2010) recommended individual populations be managed as discrete conservational units due to the limited gene flow and high divergence between swamps. A more recent study by Gorissen et al. (2017) found a reduction in soil moisture as a result of groundwater loss was a key threat to this species, due to habitat destruction. This is also a major threat to the Endangered Giant Dragonfly, *Petalura gigantea* (Baird & Burgin, 2016), which relies on moist sediment to burrow and lay its eggs, a crucial part of their reproductive phase. Invertebrates specialised for groundwater environments, known as stygofauna, rely on aquifers for habitat and have been found to have unique taxonomic structures across temporal and spatial scales (Hose, 2009; Hose et al., 2017). The dependence on groundwater to provide essential habitat within swamp environments increases a species vulnerability to disturbance, as swamps are often fragmented and isolated, limiting gene flow and dispersal (Benson & Baird, 2012).

Although there are multiple regulations in place to protect these ecologically important ecosystems, upland swamps continue to be threatened at both a local and regional scale (Pemberton, 2005). Mining practices are one of the biggest threats, and can have wide ranging and devastating impacts across the region (Jankowski, 2010; Krogh, 2007). Underground coal mining, specifically longwall mining, is classified as a Key Threatening Process under the Threatened Species Conservation Act (1995). Longwall mining can destroy upland swamp habitats by cracking the sandstone bedrock, draining a swamp of water within weeks of the initial damage. This permanently alters the water table and the ecosystem that upland swamps support (Young, 2017). A report from the NSW Department of Planning & Environment (2015) outlined that a number of swamps within the Illawarra Coal mining area underwent changes to their size, ecosystem function and composition, as well as impacting the structural integrity of the bedrock as a result of longwall mining practices in the area.

Land clearing for agricultural use and urban development near swamp regions are also a threat to these ecosystems. Large scale urbanisation can increase the risk of eutrophication (Smith, 2003), sedimentation, channelization and pollution from stormwater runoff (Mackintosh et al., 2015). Such threats have the capacity to alter the hydrological function and geomorphic structure of swamps and impact ecosystem services. Research by Christiansen et al. (2019) on several Blue Mountain upland swamps found that storm water drains increased pH and ammonia concentrations

and altered the community composition of microbial organisms; this in turn, shifted the swamps' functions towards carbon emissions and methane production. Research by Cowley et al. (2018b) added credence to this trend, with disturbed swamps exhibiting a four-fold increase in methane production and carbon emissions compared to undisturbed upland swamps in the Blue Mountains. A swamps' hydrological function is also impacted with the increase of impermeable surfaces built as part of urban developments; as this can lead to higher volumes of runoff and increased water flow into swamp environments. This damages the integrity of swamp morphology from erosion and sedimentation, impacting the water storage and filtering ability of the ecosystem (Banaszuk & Kamocki, 2008; O'Driscoll et al., 2010).

The added stress of anthropogenic climate change further increases the vulnerability of freshwater ecosystems (Bush et al., 2012; Finlayson et al., 2013; Hughes, 2003). Research into the historical wetland-woodland boundaries of a mire wetland within Australia by Keith et al. (2010) found that there was a strong relationship with the availability of moisture and increasing size of mire wetlands. The study concluded that these systems were sensitive to fluctuations in moisture levels and that a reduction in size could be expected under current climate change projections. An assessment by Wrona et al. (2006) found the impacts of climate change were wide ranging with knock-on effects throughout the ecosystem, such as a decrease in suitable habitat, as well as disruption to food-web interactions and ecological function. Collectively, these threats damage the environment, decreasing the health and resilience of an ecosystem, and if left unchecked, can push them to the point of complete ecological collapse (Yule, 2010).

Upland swamps have been described as an ecological indicator due to their sensitivity to disturbances (Young, 2017). If a swamps ecological functions are impacted, it will have knock-on effects for the wider environment, reducing the amount of available water in the area as well as their filtering capacity (Freidman & Fryirs, 2015). By understanding the connection between upland swamps and the wider community, swamps could be used as an indicator ecosystem to measure and monitor the health of the wider environment.

1.2. Monitoring biodiversity

To effectively manage and protect upland swamps from the threats described above, it is essential to monitor them across temporal and spatial scales (Bunn et al., 2010; Bush et al., 2012). Assessing the biodiversity of an ecosystem is one approach for characterising the overall health of the environment (Hooper et al., 2012). Traditionally, monitoring and evaluating the biodiversity of a

given area often requires researchers with field-specific training and taxonomic expertise to identify various species of plant and animal life (Hopkins & Freckleton, 2002). These methods can be time consuming and limit a researcher's ability to detect sensitive subtle changes that could indicate larger ecological tipping points (Chariton et al., 2016).

Molecular tools provide a powerful solution for characterising ecological community structures. Environmental DNA (eDNA) has been shown to have great potential for biomonitoring ecosystems (Stat et al., 2017; Thomsen & Willerslev, 2015). Here, I define eDNA as the DNA of organisms obtained directly from environmental samples, such as water (Ficetola et al., 2008) or sediment (Chariton et al., 2010). DNA metabarcoding is one such technique used within the field of eDNA, which takes advantage of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to amplify a short taxonomically informative strand of DNA that has conservative regions at the start and end of the sequence (Pompanon et al., 2011). The amplicons are then sequenced with high-throughput sequencing (HTS) to identify the genetic material from organisms that are present within a sample (Shokralla et al., 2012). As a technique, it is non-invasive, can be implemented with standardised sampling procedures, and be carried out over large landscapes within a relatively short time frame (Bohmann et al., 2014). This gives researchers the ability to obtain large amounts of data on the biodiversity of a given area (Dafforn et al., 2014; Yoccoz, 2012).

Implementing eDNA metabarcoding methods allows for the simultaneous characterisation of organisms across numerous taxonomic groups, as well as potentially inferring their relative abundance within a specific location (Andersen et al., 2011). Organisms that hold key roles in facilitating ecological functions, such as microorganisms, should be an essential part of monitoring programs to obtain a full biodiversity assessment of an area (Rosenberg, 2001). Microbial communities are critical for numerous key ecological functions within ecosystems. They are a fundamental food source at the base of all food-webs; drive the cycling of nutrients within an ecosystem; and hold key roles as decomposers and autotrophs (Sigee, 2005). The 16S ribosomal marker gene is commonly used in eDNA metabarcoding studies to target prokaryotic organisms, as it is highly conserved within Bacteria and Archaea (Caporaso et al., 2012; Weisburg et al., 1991). Numerous studies focusing on prokaryotic communities in wetland ecosystems have linked their diversity and community composition to local environmental variables finding they are highly sensitive to factors such as changes in moisture levels, pH and nutrients (Christiansen et al., 2019; Farías et al., 2014; He et al., 2014; Li et al., 2018). Another common taxonomic group to include in biodiversity monitoring programs are eukaryotic organisms, i.e.: plants, fungi and animals, as this group encapsulates a broad range of organisms within the environment. The 18S ribosomal marker

gene has been successfully used to target eukaryotic organisms from environmental samples (Hardy et al., 2010). Many studies within wetland ecosystems have focused on understanding how eukaryotic community composition changes across spatial scales (Baldwin et al., 2013; Banerji et al., 2018). This spatial information can be used to detection disturbances within an ecosystem as well as create appropriate management plans (Chariton et al., 2016).

The high resolution data gained from eDNA metabarcoding allows researchers to investigate the differences in community composition, structure and diversity across temporal and spatial scales (Civade et al., 2016). Incorporating eDNA metabarcoding into biodiversity assessments will allow for more comprehensive and adaptive management plans, that are able to protect and conserve vulnerable ecosystems (Thomsen et al., 2012).

1.3. Research aims and hypothesis

Here, I investigate the biodiversity and community structure of upland swamps in the Sydney Basin, comparing differences at local versus landscape scales. Using environmental DNA metabarcoding methods for sediment samples collected from upland swamps in the Sydney Basin, I:

- characterise prokaryotic and eukaryotic components of biodiversity across three distinct swamp regions;
- investigate the relationships between swamp biodiversity and community structure and local environmental variables; and
- examine the spatial structuring of species diversity and composition within swamps, between swamps and across regions.

I hypothesise that prokaryotic community assemblages will have a greater response to local environmental conditions at smaller spatial scales compared to eukaryotic communities. I also expect that community differentiation by distance will be greater in eukaryotic communities compared to prokaryotic.

This research aims to provide new insight into the uniqueness of swamp biodiversity across multiple spatial scales, both within and between swamps and across distinct regions of the Sydney Basin. Collectively, this information can be used to assist in managing these unique and endangered ecosystems.

2. Methods

2.1. Study area

The upland swamps selected for this study have been classified as Endangered Ecological Communities within NSW and Australia (Biodiversity Conservation Act, 2016; Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999; Threatened Species Conservation Act, 1995). Three regions within the Sydney Basin (New South Wales, Australia) were selected for this study: The Blue Mountains (BM), Upper Nepean State Conservation Area (SCA) and Budderoo National Park (BNP) (Figure 3). All swamps included in this research were located within the Greater Sydney drinking water catchment and protected within their respected areas.

Rainfall data in the three months prior to sampling showed the BNP region received the greatest amount of rainfall with a total of 716mm, compared to SCA which received 573.8mm and BM with 467.6mm (Bureau of Meteorology, 2019). Climate data revealed all regions experienced similar ranges in temperature. SCA and BNP had an average maximum temperature of 22.2°C and average minimum of 11.2°C, while BM had an average maximum of 20.5°C and average minimum of 10.7°C (Bureau of Meteorology, 2019). Climate measurements for SCA and BNP regions were taken from the same station in Moss Vale due to their close proximity.

2.2. Swamp sites

Sampling was performed over a four week period between January-February 2019, during which nine swamps from three regions were sampled (Figure 3, Table 1 and Figure S1-S3 in Supplementary material). In each region, three swamps, hereafter referred to as sites, were selected to maximise their distance from urban development using environmental and spatial data produced by Fryirs and Hose (2016). To enable spatial comparisons within and between regions, the distance between sites was also taken into consideration, with 2 sites selected closer together than the third. In general, one pair of sites was between 1-2kms apart, with the third site approximately 3-6kms away from its nearest site.



Figure 3: Study site locations within the Sydney Basin, New South Wales, Australia. Sites are outlined in red. Maps were created with ArcGIS software by Esri. Data on each swamps' spatial distribution was sourced from Fryirs and Hose (2016).

| Blue Mountains (BM) | | Budderoo National Park (BNP) | | State Conservation Area (SCA) | |
|------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| BMGC | 33°39'45.36"S, 150°19'10.20"E | BNP3 | 34°37'36.11"S, 150°40'45.54"E | SCA2 | 34°32'5.68"S, 150°38'48.12"E |
| BMPR | 33°36'55.4"S, 150°19'36.1"E | BNP4 | 34°38'5.51"S, 150°41'44.79"E | SCA3 | 34°31'48.45"S, 150°38'54.77"E |
| BMTR | 33°40'44.25"S, 150°17'38.07"E | BNP6 | 34°39'16.30"S, 150°41'44.11"E | SCA8 | 34°30'42.93"S, 150°34'26.71"E |

2.3. Sample collection

Within each site, 3 x 9 meter plots were set up approximately 30 meters apart (Figure 4A). Plots were based on an L shape design, consisting of a 9 metre transect emanating in both a North-South direction and the other East-West (Figure 4B). At each plot, seven individual sediment samples of 100-200g were collected at a distance of 3 metres apart, from a surficial depth of approximately 5cm. Field controls were taken at each site by opening and exposing an empty sterile sample bag to the environment for the equivalent time required to take a sediment sample.

To prevent cross contamination during sample collection, new collection bags, gloves and sterilised spades were used for each individual sample. Spades were soaked in a 10% bleach bath for 2 hours each day, then rinsed multiple times with tap water and dried prior to reuse. In addition, care was also taken to avoid walking over sample collection areas.



Figure 4: Sediment sample collection design. A) Three plots (1, 2, 3) were set up per site, with a 30m space between them. B) Seven samples were collected per plot, approximate locations illustrated by the red crosses, 1-3 taken in a North-South direction, 5-7 in an East-West direction and sample 4 the corner point.

Samples were transported to the field laboratory at room temperature where extractions were carried out the same day. A portion of each sample was stored separately at room temperature in airtight containers for transport to the laboratory, once there samples were then stored at -25°C before sediment analysis was carried out.

2.4. DNA extraction

DNA extractions were carried out in the field within 8 hours of sample collection using a phosphate buffer extraction protocol derived from Taberlet et al. (2012). Briefly, 15g of sediment was added to 15mL of phosphate buffer solution (1.97g of NaH₂PO₄ + 14.7 g of Na₂HPO₄ for 1L of DNA free water) and mixed by hand for 15 minutes in a 50mL sterilised falcon tube. When sediment samples were overly dry, additional buffer was added to the mixture to ensure fluid consistencies. After shaking, 2mL of the supernatant was subsampled by pouring into a 2mL collection tube, then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 12,000g. The supernatant was then used as starting material for DNA extraction using the NucleoSpin Soil Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Düren Germany), following manufacturer's instructions with the exception of excluding the cell lysis stage. In practice, this means pipetting 800µL of the centrifuged supernatant into a 2mL collection tube with 400µL of SB binding buffer and then vortexing the mixture for 5 seconds. The DNA was then bound to a NucleoSpin Soil Column by filtering 600µL of the mixture through the column and centrifuging for 2 minutes at 10,000g. This step was repeated twice to filter all the sample through the spin column collection tube. The spin column was then washed with 500µL of SB binding buffer, 550µL of SW1 wash buffer and 650µL of SW2 wash buffer; at each stage the column was centrifuged for 2 minutes at 10,000g and flow through was discarded. Field extractions were paused at this stage, with the samples on the NucleoSpin Soil Columns secured in airtight containers containing silica gel for DNA preservation and stable transport at room temperature. Once in the laboratory, samples underwent a final wash with 650µL of SW2 buffer. The DNA was then eluted from the spin columns using 100µL SE buffer, centrifuged at 11,000g for 30 seconds. The final product was stored at -25°C.

Field and laboratory control samples followed the same DNA extraction protocol as stated above. Field control sample collection bags were washed with the phosphate buffer solution and processed as described above, extraction controls consisted of 400μ L of SB binding buffer and 800μ L of phosphate buffer solution.

2.5. DNA amplification

Two DNA metabarcodes located on 16S rDNA V4 and 18S rDNA V7 gene regions were amplified to characterise prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities, respectively (details provided in sections 2.5.1. and 2.5.2.). To assess PCR inhibition and maximise DNA amplification (Murray et al., 2015), samples were initially subjected to quantitative PCR (qPCR) on a Lightcycler 480 (Roche Molecular Systems Inc, America), using non-tagged primers.

Positive controls for 16S and 18S rDNA were created to represent a mock community of seven to eight species that would not appear naturally within the study area. Using extracted DNA of known species and concentrations, three mixtures were created by varying the molarity of each DNA sample (Table S1 in Supplementary material). Given the ubiquity of many bacteria, a novel approach was used for the 16S rDNA positive controls. In this case, a synthetic oligonucleotide was created using a fungal sequence flanked by the conserved 3' and 5' prime regions of the 16S V4 (515F-806R). *In silico* testing of the sequence ensured that no represented hits were found on either GenBank or SILVA. The synthetic 16S rDNA sequence was developed and tested by Dr David Midgley, CSIRO, Australia (unpublished data). Based on the qPCR results, all samples were diluted 1:10 with DNA free water.

2.5.1. Prokaryote 16S rDNA amplification

The 16S rDNA V4 region for prokaryotic organisms (approximately 350bp) was amplified using the non-tagged primers 515F (5'-GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and 806R (5'-GGACTACNVGGGTWTCTAAT-3') (Caporaso et al., 2012). The qPCR mixture per sample for 16S rDNA included: 7.5µL AmpliTaq Gold 360 Master Mix (Life Technologies, Australia), 0.5µL Sybr Green Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Qiagen, Germany), 0.3µL of non-tagged 16S forward primer at 0.2µM concentration, 0.3µL of non-tagged 16S reverse primer at 0.2µM concentration, 4.4µL of DNA free water and 2µL of DNA sample. 16S rDNA qPCR conditions were as following: initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 40 cycles of denaturing (94°C for 45 seconds), annealing (50°C for 60 seconds) and extension (72°C for 90 seconds), with a final extension period of 72°C for 10min.

Based on the 16S qPCR results, all samples were diluted 1:10 with DNA free water. Three 96 well plates were set up with diluted DNA samples, which included: 2 positive controls, 2 negative controls, 5-8 extraction controls and 84-41 samples per plate. Samples were arranged in a randomised pattern across plates to prevent systematic bias (Burns & Ellison, 2011). The plates were sent to the Ramaciotti Centre (University of New South Wales, Australia), for 16S V4 PCR

amplification and library prep for HTS. Amplicons were then purified and sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq (2 x 250 bp paired-end).

2.5.2. Eukaryote 18S rDNA amplification

Amplification of the 18S rDNA V7 region for eukaryotic organisms (approximately 160bp) was performed using the universal primers All18SF (5'-TGGTGCATGGCCGTTCTTAGT-3') and All18SR (5'-CATCTAAGGGCATCACAGACC-3') (Hardy et al., 2010). The qPCR mixture per sample for 18S rDNA non-tagged primer included: 7.5μ L AmpliTaq Gold 360 Master Mix (Life Technologies, Australia), 0.5μ L Sybr Green Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Qiagen, Germany), 0.6μ L of forward non-tagged 18S primer at 0.4μ M concentration, 0.6μ L of reverse non-tagged 18S primer at 0.4μ M concentration, 3.8μ L of DNA free water and 2μ L of DNA sample. 18S rDNA qPCR conditions were as following: initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of denaturing (94°C for 60 seconds), annealing (50°C for 60 seconds) and extension (72°C for 90 seconds), with a final extension period of 72°C for 10min. Based on the 18S qPCR results, all samples were diluted 1:10 with DNA free water.

A 96 well plate was set up for tagged 18S rDNA PCRs with 73 samples and 23 controls, including: 12 blanks, 4 extraction controls, 4 PCR controls, and 3 positive controls. Samples were arranged in a randomised pattern across plates to prevent systematic bias (Burns & Ellison, 2011). PCRs for HTS were carried out in duplicates using a Mastercycler X50s (Eppendorf, Germany). For each reaction carried out, the mix included: 2μ L of DNA sample, 1.6μ L of DNA free water, 10μ L of AmpliTaq Gold 360 Master Mix (Life Technologies, Australia), 3.2μ L of a tagged forward fusion-primer and 3.2μ L of a tagged reverse fusion-primer at a concentration of 0.4μ M. 18S rDNA PCR conditions were as following: initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 minutes, followed by 35 cycles of denaturing (94°C for 60 seconds), annealing (50°C for 60 seconds) and extension (72°C for 90 seconds), with a final extension period of 72°C for 10min. Post-PCR products were tested on an agarose gel electrophoresis to ensure amplification was successful.

2.6. Eukaryote 18S rDNA purification and sequencing

A PicoGreen double stranded DNA (dsDNA) protocol (Life Technologies, Australia) and a plate reader (BMG Labtech, Germany) was used to measure the post-PCR concentrations of each sample with PHERAstar software (BMG Labtech, Germany). The concentration of each sample was measured twice. In brief, the PicoGreen protocol included the use of flat bottom black plates with a mixture of 180μ L TE buffer, 20μ L of 1:10 diluted amplicon sample and 100μ L of 200x dilution PicoGreen dsDNA reagent. The plate reader was calibrated prior to running each sample plate. Results were used to quantify the concentration of 18S amplicons and averaged across the duplicates. Using the results, samples were pooled in equimolarity into a sterilised 50mL falcon tube to create an 18S amplicon library of $200ng/\mu$ L.

Purification of the 18S amplicon library was carried out using 1080µL AMPure XP beads (Beckman-Coulter Life Sciences) mixed with 600µL of pooled amplicon sample. This mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes then placed on a magnetic separator for 10 minutes until the beads cleared. The supernatant was aspirated, then washed three times with 800µL of 70% ethanol, followed by 10 minutes of air drying. Beads were then mixed with 50µL DNA free water and left for 10 minutes on the magnetic separator. The supernatant was aspirated off and the sample concentration was verified on a Qubit® 3.0 Fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The final amplicon library was diluted with DNA free water to obtain a concentration of 50ng/µL then sent to the Ramaciotti Centre (University of New South Wales, Australia) for Illumina MiSeq sequencing (2 x 250 bp paired-end).

2.7. Sediment analysis

Each sample was analysed for the following physical and chemical properties: moisture content (%), organic matter (%), total organic carbon (%), hydrogen (%) and nitrogen (%) nutrient content, pH and electrical conductivity (μ S/cm). To determine the moisture content, samples were dried in an oven at 80°C for 48hrs. Total organic matter was determined by loss on ignition (Heiri et al., 2001), a subsample of dried sediment was placed in a muffle furnace, at 550°C for 5 hours. Samples were weighed before and after drying for both procedures to obtain the relevant moisture and organic matter content as a percentage of the dry weight.

For each sample, pH and electric conductivity were determined using a mixture of dried sediment and deionized water in a 1:5 weight to volume ratio, which was then placed on a rotative shaker for 1 hour to homogenise the mixture. pH was measured using a pH 3310 meter (WTW, Xylem Analytics, Australia) as per manufacturing instructions and electric conductivity measurements were taken using an Aqua-Conductivity meter (TPS Pty Ltd, Australia). Total carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen content were analysed using approximately 1.5-4mg of dried sediment material and processed in a LECO 900 analyser as per manufacture instructions (Isomass Scientific Inc., Calgary Canada) with regular calibration and checking of standards taking place throughout the analysis.

2.8. Bioinformatics and taxonomic assignment

Metabarcoding data received from the Ramaciotti Centre (University of New South Wales, Australia) was run through the Greenfield Hybrid Analysis Pipeline (GHAP) v2.1, created by CSIRO Australia (available at https://doi.org/10.4225/08/59f98560eba25). The GHAP pipeline utilises USearch tools (Edgar, 2013) (available at http://drive5.com/Usearch) along with additional taxonomic classification tools, specific to each amplicon, to cluster and classify sequences. This pipeline generates a table of Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) with taxonomic classifications and species assignments along with specified read counts for each sample.

The script runs through the following steps: 1) demultiplexing MiSeq data by assigning reads to their original sample ID based on known tagged primer pairs; 2) if necessary reads are trimmed to remove poor quality tail regions (i.e., with an Illumina base call quality score <25); 3) merge overlapping areas of paired reads using the *fastq_mergepairs* command from Usearch; 4) dereplicate reads with the command *fastx_uniques*, a step designed to reduce processing identical reads; 5) removing sequences that are outside the expected range length (i.e., 245-255bp for 16S and, 130-160bp for 18S); 6) cluster sequences into OTUs with a 97% similarity threshold using *cluster_otus*, this command also carries out chimera checking; 7) filter non-target OTUs as well as PCR artefacts and 8) classification of OTUs.

Classification of 16S rDNA OTUs used two independent tools: the RDP Naïve Bayesian Classifier - Ribosomal Database Project (Cole et al., 2013) (available at http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/); and the *usearch_global* command to improve the confidence of taxonomic assignment. The RDP 16S Training Set is supplemented with data from the RefSeq 16S to potentially allow for species level identification. The minimum confidence level for RDP to assign taxonomic classification is 0.5, while the *usearch_global* command searches for matches between OTUs and the reference set. 18S rDNA OTUs were classified by BLASTing sequences using the *ublast* command from Usearch, against a curated set of sequences derived from the SILVA v128 SSU reference set (Quast et al., 2013). Taxonomical assignment was set using command *taxoBLASTCutoffs*, with the following BLAST similarity cut-offs: phylum 0.77, class 0.8, order 0.85, family 0.9, genus 0.95, species 0.97. For each taxonomic level, if the assignment score was below the cut-off threshold, the OTU was unassigned at that specific level.

Filtering 16S rDNA and 18S rDNA OTU tables after the GHAP pipeline was conducted in R version 3.5.1 (R_Core_Team, 2018) using tools from the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019). The in-house script carried out the following steps: 1) normalise data against positive controls; first

by identifying the positive controls, and then removing any OTUs found equal or below the positive control in each sample, i.e. to remove potential tag-jumping sequences; 2) removal of OTUs with a total count < 10 reads in the entire dataset; 3) for 16S OTUs only, removal of OTUs from Eukaryotic organelles (chloroplast and mitochondria); 4) removal of OTUs that were unassigned at the kingdom level, 5) rarefaction of count data (the minimum read count value used to rarefy data for 16S was 23,839 and 18S was 2,069); and 6) convert rarefaction data to relative abundance.

2.9. Statistical analysis

Data exploration and analysis was conducted in R version 3.5.1 (R_Core_Team, 2018).

2.9.1. Physio-chemical attributes of sites

Physical and chemical variables were recorded for each sample. A one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) test followed by a Tukey HSD post hoc was conducted to explore if there were any significant differences within and between regions and sites, and, if so, where the differences lie, respectively.

A log transformation was performed on site area and elevation prior to a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to reduce the data skewness due to the large variation of values. A PCA of physical and chemical factors was carried out using function *dudi* and *fviz_pca_biplot* from the R package *ade4* (Dray & Dufour, 2007). A Pearson's correlation coefficient test was performed between all factors to identify collinear variables; variables which were significantly correlated (P < 0.05) and had a high correlation coefficient value ($r^2 > 0.80$) were removed from subsequent analysis.

2.9.2. eDNA data

The effectiveness of the experimental design and sample collection to capture site diversity was explored with a series of species accumulation curves, using the function *specaccum* from the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019). This was also used to estimate the potential number of species that could be found in a site (Chao 1).

2.9.2.1. Diversity analysis

Rarefied 16S and 18S rDNA data was used to calculate ecological univariate indices using tools from the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019), specifically calculating OTU Richness, Shannon Wiener Diversity Index (Equation 1) (Shannon, 1948) and Pielou's Evenness Index (Equation 2) (Pielou, 1966) at the region, site and plot level.

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{k} p_i \log\left(p_i\right) \tag{1}$$

$$J' = \frac{H}{H_{max}}$$
(2)

Where k is the total number of OTUs in the dataset, i indicates a specific OTU within the dataset, p_i is the proportion of reads belonging to the ith OTU compared to the total number within the dataset. H is the Shannon Wiener Diversity and H_{max} is the maximum value of H.

A Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn multiple comparison test were conducted to explore if there was any significant difference in OTU Richness, Shannon Wiener Diversity and Pielou's Evenness Index within and between regions and sites, and, if so, where the differences lie, respectively.

2.9.2.2. Community composition

Prior to carrying out community analysis, both 16S and 18S rDNA datasets were transformed with a Hellinger transformation. The community composition of each site was explored at several taxonomic levels, with bar plots to visualise the differences. A non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (nMDS) analysis was performed to visualise dissimilarity patterns between the sites, using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index with the function *vegdist* from the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019). Statistical differences in OTU community composition between and within regions, were explored using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (perMANOVA). For this, initially the dissimilarity between pairs of sample using Bray-Curtis distance was computed, and then used the *adonis* function from the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al., 2019) to conduct the perMANOVA (based on 999 permutations), with 'sites' nested within 'regions', and 'plots' nested within 'sites'.

2.9.2.3. Relationship between communities and environmental variables

The relationship between environmental variables and OTU data was analysed with a distancebased Redundancy Analysis (dbRDA) with the function *dbrda* from R package *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2019) using the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index.

2.9.2.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of community assemblages

The proportion of variation within and between region, site and plot level were calculated using a variance component analysis with a two factor nested design (Quinn & Keough, 2002). A distance-decay analysis was carried out to examine if there was any correlation between community dissimilarity, using Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index and geographical distance. This analysis was performed across regions, within regions and within sites. An ANOVA was used to determine the R^2 value as an indication of the strength of the relationship between geographical distance and community dissimilarity.

3. Results

3.1. Physio-chemical attributes of sites

The physical and chemical properties of each site is shown in Table 2. Recorded pH levels of all sediment samples were classified as acidic, with a limited range between 3.20-4.75. The pH values of the sediment samples differed between regions (ANOVA: F = 14.09, P < 0.001). The pH of the sediment was significantly lower (P < 0.001) in the BNP region (pH = 3.87, SD = 0.27, min = 3.56, max = 4.75), than both SCA (pH = 4.06, SD = 0.23, min = 3.66, max = 4.59), and BM (pH = 4.04, SD = 0.24, min = 3.20, max = 4.57) regions (Table 2). At a site level there was no significant difference between BNP sites (ANOVA: F = 0.46, P = 0.64). SCA sites were significantly different to each other (ANOVA: F = 74.09, P < 0.001), with SCA8 having a higher pH value than both SCA2 and SCA3 (P < 0.001). A test of BM sites (ANOVA: F = 3.12, P = 0.05), found BMTR had a lower pH value compared to BMPR (P = 0.04).

Soil moisture content differed between the regions (ANOVA: F = 65.39, P < 0.001). The BM region was drier (P < 0.001), than the other two regions (mean = 21.52%, SD = 12.67) (Table 2). Within the SCA region, SCA3 was wetter (mean = 72.83%, SD = 8.80) than SCA2 and SCA8 (P < 0.001). Soil moisture content varied within all sites in the BNP region (P < 0.001), with BNP4 having the greatest moisture content (mean = 71.62%, SD = 10.78) and BNP3 having the smallest (mean = 29.98%, SD = 3.00).

There were differences in the elevation of each region, (ANOVA: F = 6094, P < 0.001). On average, the BM sites had the highest elevations (mean = 989.92m, SD = 9.71m, min = 974.00m, max = 1011.00m), with the SCA (mean = 598.43m, SD = 22.55m, min = 578.00m, max = 630.00m) and BNP sites (mean = 617.05m, SD = 19.56m, min = 584.00m, max = 659.00m) being at similar elevations (Table 2).

The area of sites varied between (ANOVA: F = 19.72, P < 0.001) and within regions (ANOVA: $F = 2.2*10^{29}$, P < 0.001). Site BNP6 was the largest site overall with an area of 1.79km^2 and BMPR was the smallest site with an area of 0.02km^2 . The BNP region had the largest sites on average (mean = 0.68km^2 , SD = 0.97km^2), followed by the SCA region (mean = 0.27km^2 , SD = 0.26km^2) and BM (mean = 0.10km^2 , SD = 0.09km^2) (Table 2).

Table 2: Summary of physical and chemical properties of each site, values were averaged per site (n=21). Values in parentheses are standard deviation. Variables; Elev: Elevation (m); SM: Soil moisture as a percentage of dry weight (%); OC: Organic content as a percentage of dry weight (%); EC: Electrical conductivity (μS/cm); C: Total Carbon content (%); H: Total Hydrogen content (%); N: Total Nitrogen content (%); C:N: Carbon to Nitrogen ratio.

| Site | Area (km ²) | Elev (m) | SM (%) | OC (%) | рН | EC (µS/cm) | C (%) | H (%) | N (%) | C:N |
|------|----------------------------|-------------|------------------|------------------|----------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------|----------------|-------|
| BMGC | 0.07 | 977 | 12.52 (3.02) | 11.29 (3.11) | 4.04 (0.14) | 75.51 (28.74) | 3.43 (1.79) | 0.33 (0.21) | 0.19 (0.07) | 18.05 |
| BMPR | 0.02 | 994 | 13.39 (2.79) | 8.88 (2.22) | 4.14 (0.19) | 74.11 (15.90) | 2.27 (0.94) | 0.23 (0.10) | 0.14 (0.04) | 16.21 |
| BMTR | 0.20 | 999 | 39.82 (18.36) | 49.11 (36.37) | 3.96 (0.32) | 200.07 (108.93) | 24.35 (19.45) | 2.30 (2.15) | 0.79 (0.59) | 30.82 |
| BNP3 | 0.18 | 597 | 29.98 (3.00) | 15.24 (4.26) | 3.89 (0.11) | 108.97 (23.10) | 8.56 (6.89) | 0.78 (0.88) | 0.32 (0.27) | 26.75 |
| BNP4 | 0.05 | 642 | 71.62 (10.78) | 68.01 (21.11) | 3.89 (0.35) | 214.72 (71.48) | 31.14 (12.66) | 3.46 (1.66) | 1.15 (0.50) | 27.08 |
| BNP6 | 1.79 | 612 | 49.53 (20.46) | 30.26 (20.36) | 3.83 (0.15) | 201.10 (102.13) | 14.46 (13.46) | 1.27 (1.34) | 0.59 (0.54) | 24.51 |
| SCA2 | 0.55 | 582 | 54.73 (18.15) | 57.59 (20.07) | 3.94 (0.13) | 306.58 (98.91) | 26.44 (8.97) | 2.86 (1.81) | 1.26 (0.35) | 20.98 |
| SCA3 | 0.21 | 584 | 72.83 (8.80) | 85.08 (14.01) | 3.92 (0.12) | 456.66 (173.71) | 38.36 (4.68) | 4.07 (0.66) | 1.34 (0.18) | 28.63 |
| SCA8 | 0.04 | 630 | 45.74 (9.49) | 46.18 (9.34) | 4.34 (0.12) | 187.40 (63.98) | 22.36 (4.03) | 2.33 (0.45) | 1.15 (0.25) | 19.44 |

A PCA of physical and chemical factors was able to explain 81.8% of variation on the first two axes. Soil moisture, organic content, electrical conductivity, total Carbon, Hydrogen and Nitrogen content were the main drivers on the first axes, explaining a large proportion of variance (63.9%) (Figure 5). This axis groups sites SCA3, BNP4 and SCA2 as having high values of soil moisture, and organic content along with the other variables which contribute to this axis. The second axes of the PCA explained 17.9% of the variance and was driven by pH, site area, elevation and C:N ratio. Two BM sites, BMPR and BMGC, were grouped together with high elevation and low soil moisture. The influence of pH is shown by separating SCA8 with high pH from BNP6 and BNP3. Site area is also a contributing factor to this axis with the largest site BNP6 on opposite ends with SCA8, one of the smallest sites.



Figure 5: Principal component analysis (PCA) biplot of physical and chemical variables. The contribution of each variable to the two axes is displayed through the range of colours in the legend. Dim1 captures the most variation of the PCA at 63.9%, Dim2 captures 17.9% of the variation.

Pearsons' correlations identified several collinear variables; soil moisture, organic content, electric conductivity, carbon, hydrogen, and nitrogen. These variables were significantly correlated (P < 0.05) and had a high correlation percentage ($r^2 = 0.84-0.99$). The PCA indicated soil moisture was the strongest contributing factor, as such variables that were collinear to soil moisture were excluded from subsequent analysis.

3.2. Prokaryotic communities

The 16S rDNA sequencing run resulted in ~12 million reads before filtering. Subsequent to bioinformatics processing and taxonomic assignment the dataset contained ~10.8 million reads, with further filtering resulting in ~9.9 million reads capturing 11,770 OTUs prior to rarefaction. Two samples were removed due to their low number of reads (<10); specifically, BNP6_A1 and BNP3_B2, resulting in 187 samples included in the 16S rDNA analysis. The final rarefied dataset contained ~7.85 million reads encompassing 11,209 OTUs, with an average read count of ~42,000 per sample. The filtered 16S rDNA data, hereafter will be referred to as prokaryotic data.

The effectiveness of our experimental design and sample collection to capture the overall diversity of each site was tested with a series of accumulation curves (Figure 6). The curves showed a steady increase in the number of OTUs between 1-10 samples that gradually lessened across all sites with increasing sample size. Collecting 21 samples accounted for approximately 64% of estimated OTUs per site (Chao1) (Table S2 in Supplementary material).



Figure 6: Accumulation curve for prokaryotic Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) recorded per site, each site consisted of 21 samples, with the exception of BNP6 and BNP3, which had 20 samples. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.2.1. Diversity of prokaryotic OTUs

At a regional level, SCA had slightly higher mean values of OTU richness, Shannon diversity and Pielou's evenness compared to BM and BNP (Figure 7 and Table S3 in Supplementary material). The BM region showed high variation for OTU richness counts compared to the other two regions (Figure 7A). Shannon diversity was relatively similar between the three regions ranging between 6.91-6.98 on average (Figure 7B) but showed higher variation in the SCA region. Pielou's evenness was similar for all regions, ranging between 0.845-0.847 (Table S3 in Supplementary material). Collectively, no difference in univariate indices were detected between the three regions (Kruskal-Wallis test: Chi square = 0.27, df = 2, P = 0.88 for OTU richness, Chi square = 0.36, df = 2, P = 0.84 for Shannon diversity, and Chi square = 0.36, df = 2, P = 0.84 for Pielou's evenness). A Dunns *post hoc* test of pairwise comparisons between regions showed there was no significance for any of the three measurements (P > 0.7).



Figure 7: Boxplots of prokaryotic communities based on site averages per region; A) Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) richness, B) Shannon diversity (H), C) Pielou's evenness (J). Black lines within the coloured boxed indicate median values and black diamonds indicate the mean. Top lines of the boxes are the 75th percentile, bottom lines of the boxes are the 25th percentile, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

At a site level no differences were identified, across the three ecological indices (Kruskal-Wallis test: Chi square = 10.12, df = 8, P = 0.26 for OTU richness, Chi square = 5.34, df = 8, P = 0.72 for

Shannon diversity, and Chi square = 14.91, df = 8, P = 0.06 for Pielou's evenness) (Figure 8 and Table S4 in Supplementary materials). A Dunns *post hoc* test of pairwise comparisons across the three ecological indices between sites was not significant (P > 0.6 for OTU richness, P = 0.9 for Shannon diversity, and P = 0.2 for Pielou's evenness).



Figure 8: Boxplots of prokaryotic communities based on plot averages per site; A) Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) richness, B) Shannon diversity (H), C) Pielou's evenness (J). Black lines within the coloured boxed indicate median values and black diamonds indicate the mean. Top lines of the boxes are the 75th percentile, bottom lines of the boxes are the 25th percentile, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.2.2. Prokaryotic community composition

Prokaryotic data consisted of an overwhelming majority of reads assigned to the kingdom Bacteria 99.88%, with Archaea making up the additional 0.12%. The distribution of reads within phyla were similar across regions and sites (Figure 9). The top 10 phyla accounted for approximately 90% of all reads. With dominant phyla including Proteobacteria, Acidobacteria, Verrucomicrobia Planctomycetes and Actinobacteria.



Figure 9: Taxonomic distribution of prokaryotic reads within top ten phyla per site. All phyla that were not within the top ten groups were included in the Other category, Operational Taxonomic Units that were not assigned at the phyla level were classified as Unassigned.

The composition of the prokaryotic communities differed between (perMANOVA: F = 10.75, P < 0.001) and within regions (perMANOVA: F = 5.24, P < 0.001). A *post-hoc* pairwise test found all regions and sites contained different prokaryotic community assemblages (P < 0.001). This is further illustrated by the nMDS ordination plot which showed the prokaryotic assemblages from each region and site had substantial overlaps in composition (Figure 10). Both the BM and SCA samples tended to group together within their region, and strong clustering is seen with sites BMPR and SCA3.



Figure 10: Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination plot of prokaryotic communities illustrating composition dissimilarity across regions and sites (stress = 0.174). Each point represents a single sample, points that are closer together are similar in their community composition. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.2.3. Relationship between prokaryotic communities and environmental variables

A dbRDA analysis based on five environmental variables explained 18.37% of the total variation in the prokaryotic communities (Figure 11). The first two axis explained 15.9%, with the first axis explaining 11.3% of total variation influenced by site area and soil moisture. The second axis explained 4.6% of total variation with BM sites separated by elevation. Site area (9.78%, P < 0.001), elevation (3.60%, P < 0.001) and soil moisture content (3.44%, P < 0.001) were the largest contributing factors to the dbRDA, while pH (0.96%, P = 0.003) and C:N ratio (0.60%, P = 0.98) only explained a small amount of biotic variation.



Figure 11: A distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) ordination plot showing the relationship between prokaryotic communities and five environmental variables: site area, elevation, soil moisture content, pH and C:N ratio. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.2.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of prokaryotic community assemblages

A variance component analysis indicated that the majority of variation occurred at the sample level, residuals 60% (Table S5 in Supplementary material). Sites explained a quarter of the variability of samples (25%), with plots explaining 10% and regions having a minimal 4% impact on variation.

Prokaryotic communities across regions became more dissimilar with increasing geographic distance (F = 2667.4, R² = 0.133, P < 0.001) (Figure 12). Within all regions, prokaryotic communities differed significantly from each other: BM (F =1086, R² = 0.357, P < 0.001), BNP (F =342.5, R² = 0.157, P < 0.001) and SCA (F =1224, R² = 0.385, P < 0.001) (Figure 13). When comparing points sampled within sites, five out of nine sites showed significant differences (P < 0.05) in prokaryotic communities with increasing geographic distances (Figure S4 in Supplementary materials). There was no regional pattern in respect to where the community differences were found, but two sites had high correlation coefficient values; SCA2 (R² = 0.52, P < 0.001) and BNP4 (R² = 0.23, P < 0.001) (Figure S4 in Supplementary materials).



Figure 12: Prokaryotic community differentiation by distance plot across all regions, regression line in red showing adjusted R² value.



Figure 13: Prokaryotic community differentiation by distance plot for each individual region, regression line in red showing adjusted R² value. A) Blue Mountains region (BM), B) Budderoo National Park region (BNP), C) Upper Nepean State Conservation Area region (SCA).

3.3. Eukaryotic communities

The 18S rDNA sequencing run resulted in ~17 million reads before filtering, containing 189 samples, all sequenced successfully. Due to stringent parameters within the bioinformatics process and taxonomic assignment stages the dataset contained ~1.2 million reads, with further filtering resulting in ~920,000 reads capturing 1,395 OTUs prior to rarefaction. The final rarefied dataset contained 405,096 reads encompassing 1,334 OTUs with an average read count of ~2100 per sample. The filtered 18S rDNA data, hereafter will be referred to as eukaryotic data.

The effectiveness of our experimental design and sample collection to capture the overall diversity of each site was tested with a series of accumulation curves (Figure 14). The curves showed a steep increase between 1-5 samples then continues in a slower upward trend across all sites with increasing sample size. Collecting 21 samples per site accounted for approximately 67% of estimated OTUs (Chao1) (Table S6 in Supplementary material).



Figure 14: Accumulation curve for eukaryotic Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs) recorded per site, each site consisted of 21 samples. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.3.1. Diversity of eukaryotic OTUs

At a regional level, BNP had slightly higher mean values of OTU richness and Shannon diversity values compared to BM and SCA (Figure 15 and Table S7 in Supplementary material). The BM region displayed great variation of OTU richness and Pielou's evenness (Figure 15). All three regions had similar values of Pielou's evenness, with average values of 0.862-0.863 (Figure 15C). However, there were no differences for any of the measured univariate indices between the three regions (Kruskal-Wallis test: Chi square = 1.87, df = 2, P = 0.39 for OTU richness, Chi square = 2.22, df = 2, P = 0.33 for Shannon diversity, and Chi square = 0.36, df = 2, P = 0.84 for Pielou's evenness). A Dunns *post hoc* pairwise comparisons test between regions was not significant (P > 0.5 for OTU richness, P > 0.4 for Shannon diversity, and P > 0.7 for Pielou's evenness).



Figure 15: Boxplots of eukaryotic communities based on site averages per region; A) Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) richness, B) Shannon diversity (H), C) Pielou's evenness (J). Black lines within the coloured boxed indicate median values and black diamonds indicate the mean. Top lines of the boxes are the 75th percentile, bottom lines of the boxes are the 25th percentile, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

At a site level, there is a consistent pattern for BNP and SCA sites across the three ecological indices (Figure 16 and Table S8 in Supplementary materials). Within the BM region, site BMTR exhibited altering values compared to BMGC and BMPR. However, none of the differences between sites were significant (Kruskal-Wallis test: Chi square = 9.55, df = 8, P = 0.30 for OTU

richness, Chi square = 6.21, df = 8, P = 0.62 for Shannon diversity, and Chi square = 12.22, df = 8, P = 0.14 for Pielou's evenness). A Dunns *post hoc* pairwise comparisons test between regions was not significant (P > 0.49 for OTU richness, P > 0.92 for Shannon diversity, and P > 0.25 for Pielou's evenness).



Figure 16: Boxplots of eukaryotic communities based on plot averages per site; A) Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) richness, B) Shannon diversity (H), C) Pielou's evenness (J). Black lines within the coloured boxed indicate median values and black diamonds indicate the mean. Top lines of the boxes are the 75th percentile, bottom lines of the boxes are the 25th percentile, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.3.2. Eukaryotic community composition

Eukaryotic data contained ten kingdoms, with the top five accounting for 94.63% of reads; Fungi 36.98%, Metazoa 35.47%, Rhizaria 12.08%, Plantae 5.73% and Alveolata 4.37%. The top 10 phyla accounted for approximately 90-94% of reads in the BM region, 84-87% in the BNP region and 78-84% in the SCA region. The distribution of reads within phyla were similar within regions but varied between (Figure 17). Sites in the BM region were seen to have a larger proportion of reads assigned to the phyla Basidiomycota and Ascomycota compared to BNP and SCA sites.



Figure 17: Taxonomic distribution of eukaryotic reads within top ten phyla per site. All phyla that were not within the top ten groups were included in the Other category, Operational Taxonomic Units that were not assigned at the phyla level were classified as Unassigned.

The composition of the eukaryotic communities differed between (perMANOVA: F = 9.25, P < 0.001) and within regions (perMANOVA: F = 5.19, P < 0.001). A *post-hoc* pairwise test identified all regions and sites contained different eukaryotic assemblages (P < 0.001). The nMDS ordination plot, which shows eukaryotic assemblages from each region and site shows BM sites separated from SCA and BNP (Figure 18). Sites from SCA and BNP display an overlapping of community composition. Overall sites within regions are mostly clustered together but do exhibit some spread.



Figure 18: Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) ordination plot of eukaryotic communities illustrating composition dissimilarity across regions and sites (stress = 0.213). Each point represents a single sample, points that are closer together are similar in their community composition. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.3.3. Relationship between eukaryotic communities and environmental variables

A dbRDA analysis based on five environmental variables explained 15.7% of the total variation in eukaryotic communities (Figure 19). The first two axis explained 12.5%, with the first axis explaining 6.8% of total variation with high soil moisture and high elevation separating communities, specifically the BM sites. While the second axis explained 5.7% of total variation, with site area influencing changes within communities. Site area (5.76%, P < 0.001), elevation (4.56%, P < 0.001) and soil moisture content (3.90%, P < 0.001) were the largest contributing factors to the dbRDA, while pH (0.74%, P = 0.013) and C:N ratio (0.74%, P = 0.014) only explained a small amount of biotic variation.



Figure 19: A distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) ordination plot showing the relationship between eukaryotic communities and five environmental variables: site area, soil moisture content, C:N ratio, pH and elevation. BM – Blue Mountains, BNP – Budderoo National Park, SCA – Upper Nepean State Conservation Area.

3.3.4. Multi-scale spatial analysis of eukaryotic community assemblages

A variance component analysis indicated that the majority of variation occurred at the sample level, residuals 60% (Table S9 in Supplementary material). The effect of sites explained approximately 20% of variation, while plots explained 15% of the variation and regions only 5%.

Eukaryotic communities across regions were significantly dissimilar with increasing geographic distance (F =5834.3, $R^2 = 0.247$, P < 0.001) (Figure 20). Within all regions, eukaryotic community dissimilarity increased with geographical distance between sites: BM (F =1244.3, $R^2 = 0.389$, P < 0.001), BNP (F =631.4, $R^2 = 0.244$, P < 0.001) and SCA (F =1191, $R^2 = 0.379$, P < 0.001) (Figure 21). When comparing samples within sites, eight out of nine sites showed significant differences (P < 0.05), excluding within site BMGC, (Figure S5 in Supplementary materials). High correlation coefficient values were found in four sites, with the highest being SCA2 ($R^2 = 0.88$, P < 0.001), then SCA8 ($R^2 = 0.22$, P < 0.001), BNP4 ($R^2 = 0.21$, P < 0.001) and BNP6 ($R^2 = 0.20$, P < 0.001). Larger correlation coefficient values were found for eukaryotes compared to prokaryotes, suggesting eukaryotic organisms have a stronger community differentiation by distance pattern.



Figure 20: Eukaryotic community differentiation by distance plot across all regions, regression line in red showing adjusted R^2 value.



Figure 21: Eukaryotic community differentiation by distance plot for each individual region, regression line in red showing adjusted R² value. A) Blue Mountains region (BM), B) Budderoo National Park region (BNP), C) Upper Nepean State Conservation Area region (SCA).

4. Discussion

This thesis used a novel approach for monitoring swamp ecosystems, assessing the variation of prokaryotic and eukaryotic community structure and assemblages in response to abiotic variables and multiple spatial scales. The finding indicated that prokaryotic communities were shaped by local abiotic conditions to a greater extent, compared to eukaryotic communities where spatial scales had a larger influence on composition. The knowledge gained through this biodiversity assessment will assist government and local stakeholders to improve management programs which aim to protect these endangered ecological communities.

4.1. Community patterns

The findings of this study indicated that the ecological indices of richness, diversity and evenness were similar for prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms across regions and sites (Figure 7, 8, 15 & 16). The benefit of analysing these univariate measurements is the establishment of baseline data that can be used in future monitoring programs for comparisons, allowing for the identification of local disturbances (Stirling & Wilsey, 2001; H. Zhang et al., 2012). However, it has been well documented that univariate metrics may be insensitive for detecting and monitoring environmental conditions, and consequently, I suggest focussing on the multivariate patterns found (Austen & Warwick, 1989).

The distribution of taxa within the prokaryotic community assemblages across regions and sites were similar (Figure 9). A large proportion of prokaryotic reads were assigned to the phyla Proteobacteria and Planctomycetes, both of which include organisms responsible for nitrogen fixation (Delmont et al., 2018). This large proportion of potential nitrogen fixing bacteria highlights the important role swamp ecosystems play in the nitrogen cycle (Bowden, 1987). The proportions of eukaryotic taxa differed slightly between regions (Figure 17), with the BM region having a larger proportion of the fungi Basidiomycota and Ascomycota compared to sites from the BNP and SCA regions. Many species within the phylum Ascomycota carry out key functional roles such as the decomposition of organic material, a key part of the carbon cycle (Leeder et al., 2011).

One of the main finding of this study was the differential patterns in composition observed between the prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities across spatial scales. In the case of prokaryotic communities, no clear differences were observed between communities obtained from different regions (Figure 10). In contrast, marked differences in eukaryotic communities were observed between regions (Figure 18). This is likely due to the different paradigms which underpin the dispersal of these two kingdoms. In the case of prokaryotes, it has been suggested that they are potentially distributed ubiquitously throughout the environment, with the composition structure filtered by abiotic features (Delgado-Baquerizo et al., 2018; Hagström et al., 2000). Whilst eukaryotes are limited by their ability to disperse via water, air or physical movement (Dawson & Hamner, 2008).

4.2. Relationship with environmental variables

Exploring the relationship between environmental variables and community assemblages revealed that prokaryotic communities were shaped to a marginally greater extent by environmental conditions (18.37%) than eukaryotic communities (15.7%) (Figure 11 & 19). Both site area and elevation explained a relatively large proportion of the explained variation for both communities, which may indicate an effect that an environmental niche was shaping community composition within some sites. However, elevation could also be confounded by other factors such as geographical distance, rainfall and temperature (Qian & Ricklefs, 2012). For example, in the BM region, which was higher in elevation and geographically more distant from the other two regions, both prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities were distinct from the communities obtained from the other regions. Consequently, it is difficult to determine whether this was a true effect of elevation or due to the confounding influence of other environmental co-variables, including unmeasured variables.

The moisture content of sediments was also a key covariable of community composition. Both prokaryotic and eukaryotic assemblages were similar within sites with similar moisture content, regardless of the sampling location (Figure 11 & 19). This link has also been found in other studies, with soil moisture driving local variation of microbial communities (Fierer et al., 2003; Panikov, 1999; Staley & Reysenbach, 2002). As soil moisture was also highly correlated with several other abiotic conditions, the source of water, e.g. from runoff or aquifers, is a crucial component which requires management and protection from threatening processes such as mining practices (Jankowski, 2010; Krogh, 2007) and climate change (A'Bear et al., 2014; W. Zhang et al., 2005).

The diversity of bacterial communities found within sites was limited due to the acidic sediment conditions, as the species present must be adapted to low pH environments (Fierer & Jackson, 2006). While the pH at all sites were within the expected range for upland swamps (Young, 2017),

a disruption to these swamp ecosystems due to eutrophication or channelization has been shown to alter the sediment pH to a more neutral conditions, altering the relative proportions of bacteria and archaea taxa (Christiansen et al., 2019). Understanding the influence of abiotic conditions on sedimentary communities is pivotal for biomonitoring and restoration programs (Freidman & Fryirs, 2015).

4.3. Multi-scale spatial patterns

There was significant variation in prokaryotic and eukaryotic communities at each spatial level, with the greatest effect on community assemblages occurring at the site level (within ~100m) (Figure S4 and S5 in Supplementary material). The next largest source of variability was seen at the regional level (within 10kms) (Figure 13 & 21), then across regions (between 20-120kms) (Figure 12 & 20). These findings of large variation between communities at small spatial scales are consistent with research conducted by Anderson et al. (2005) on the impact of taxonomic resolution on spatial scales. While this pattern was similar for both prokaryotes and eukaryotes, the strongest relationships were found across eukaryotic communities. A study by Green et al. (2004) found similar patterns, with eukaryotic community composition decreasing in similarity with increasing spatial scales. These findings highlight the need to manage swamp ecosystems across multiple spatial scales.

4.4. Experimental limitations

Because of the large number of samples and volumes of sediment used in this study I chose to use the phosphate buffer extraction protocol by Taberlet et al. (2012); which allowed a larger amount of starting material to be processed, capturing a more accurate representation of the local communities per sample (Ranjard et al., 2003). The use of this protocol was cost effective and time saving, with extractions being carried out in the field. This approach has been widely used in eDNA studies (Evrard et al., 2019; Pansu et al., 2015), and research by Zinger et al. (2016) found the buffer method produced comparable results to the PowerMax Soil DNA Isolation Kit (MoBio Laboratories, Cambridge, UK). However, as this protocol excludes a cell lysis step, only extracellular DNA is captured, preventing a study of functionally active organisms with RNA analysis (Baldrian et al., 2012). While RNA studies capture current communities, this level of detail was not required to inform management and conservation decisions at this time, although it would be a good avenue of exploration in the future. However, the costs and time associated with RNA work would be prohibitive for routine monitoring of these systems (Laroche et al., 2018b; Sutcliffe et al., 2019).

4.5. Implications for management and conservation

The management and protection of upland swamps and their endangered ecological communities is challenging, especially given their many threats: these including mining practices; urbanisation; eutrophication, fire and climate change. This thesis has provided a greater understanding of the influences on, and distribution of, ecologically important communities within swamps across multiple regions. As illustrated, the approach we implemented produced comprehensive ecological data which capture far more diversity than could be gained using traditional approaches. I believe this approach has the potential to provide a robust and cost-effective standardised biomonitoring program for swamp communities. Ultimately determining the overall resilience and health of these ecosystems will assist conservation managers understand the ability of these systems to withstand further stress and environmental change.

4.6. Future research directions

There are many opportunities for further analysis from the high resolution data obtained from this study. A detailed phylogenetic assessment of taxa at varying levels could provide a clearer understanding of the ecology and function of each swamp ecosystem (von Mering et al., 2007), e.g. via the implementation of bacterial functional assignment software, such as FAPROTAXA (Louca et al., 2016). Identifying indicator taxa would assist in future biomonitoring programs aiding in the management and rehabilitation of swamp ecosystems (Chariton et al., 2010; Fernandes et al., 2018; Goodsell et al., 2009). Investigating the interactions between taxa across spatial scales could also be carried out using co-occurrence network analysis (Laroche et al., 2018a). Collectively these analyses would enable us to examine the composition, function and connectivity of these endangered ecosystems.

The current study gives an insight into the complexities of swamp communities and provides key information of the biodiversity of two key taxonomic kingdoms, however, to truly understand these dynamic systems, further research across multiple temporal scales is required. This is particularly pertinent given the imminent threat of climate change.

5. Conclusion

This research has shown that the use of eDNA metabarcoding techniques was able to generate important ecological data that aids in the assessment and monitoring of these endangered ecological communities. As a novel approach for monitoring swamp ecosystems metabarcoding was able to identify important relationships between abiotic variables and community structure, highlighting the influence of local environmental variables in shaping prokaryotic communities. And furthermore, emphasised the influence of spatial scales on eukaryotic community assemblages. The high resolution biological data presented here provides the foundations for the establishment of a routine biomonitoring program for THPSS swamps within the Sydney Basin region and has the capacity to be extended to swamp communities around the globe.

References

- A'Bear, A. D., Jones, T. H., Kandeler, E., & Boddy, L. (2014). Interactive effects of temperature and soil moisture on fungal-mediated wood decomposition and extracellular enzyme activity. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 70, 151-158. doi:org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.12.017
- Adame, M. F., & Fry, B. (2016). Source and stability of soil carbon in mangrove and freshwater wetlands of the Mexican Pacific coast. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 24(2), 129-137. doi:10.1007/s11273-015-9475-6
- Akamatsu, Y., Ikeda, S., & Toda, Y. (2009). Transport of nutrients and organic matter in a mangrove swamp. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 82(2), 233-242. doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2009.01.026
- Andersen, K., Bird, K. L., Rasmussen, M., Haile, J., Breuning-Madsen, H., KjÆR, K. H., . . . Willerslev, E. (2011). Meta-barcoding of 'dirt' DNA from soil reflects vertebrate biodiversity. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(8), 1966-1979. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05261.x
- Anderson, M. J., Connell, S. D., Gillanders, B. M., Diebel, C. E., Blom, W. M., Saunders, J. E., & Landers, T. J. (2005). Relationships between taxonomic resolution and spatial scales of multivariate variation. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 74(4), 636-646. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2656.2005.00959.x
- Austen, M. C., & Warwick, R. M. (1989). Comparison of univariate and multivariate aspects of estuarine meiobenthic community structure. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 29*(1), 23-42. doi:org/10.1016/0272-7714(89)90071-1
- Baird, I. R. C., & Burgin, S. (2016). Conservation of a groundwater-dependent mire-dwelling dragonfly: implications of multiple threatening processes. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 20(2), 165-178. doi:10.1007/s10841-016-9852-3
- Baldrian, P., Kolařík, M., Stursová, M., Kopecký, J., Valášková, V., Větrovský, T., . . . Voříšková, J. (2012). Active and total microbial communities in forest soil are largely different and highly stratified during decomposition. *The ISME Journal*, 6(2), 248-258. doi:10.1038/ismej.2011.95
- Baldwin, D. S., Colloff, M. J., Rees, G. N., Chariton, A. A., Watson, G. O., Court, L. N., . . . Hardy, C. M. (2013). Impacts of inundation and drought on eukaryote biodiversity in semi-arid floodplain soils. *Molecular Ecology*, 22(6), 1746-1758. doi:10.1111/mec.12190
- Banaszuk, P., & Kamocki, A. (2008). Effects of climatic fluctuations and land-use changes on the hydrology of temperate fluviogenous mire. *Ecological Engineering*, 32(2), 133-146. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2007.10.002
- Banerji, A., Bagley, M., Elk, M., Pilgrim, E., Martinson, J., & Santo Domingo, J. (2018). Spatial and temporal dynamics of a freshwater eukaryotic plankton community revealed via 18S rRNA gene metabarcoding. *The International Journal of Aquatic Sciences*, 818(1), 71-86. doi:10.1007/s10750-018-3593-0
- Benson, D. (1997). Ecology of Sydney plant species: Part 5: Dicotyledon families: Flacourtiaceae to Myrsinaceae. *Cunninghamia*, 5(2), 331-544.

- Benson, D., & Baird, I. R. C. (2012). Vegetation, fauna and groundwater interrelations in low nutrient temperate montane peat swamps in the upper Blue Mountains, New South Wales. *Cunninghamia*, 12(4), 267-307. doi:10.7751/cunninghamia.2012.12.021
- Biodiversity Conservation Act. (2016). *NSW legislation*. NSW Government: Minister for Energy and Environment Retrieved from <u>https://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au/~/view/act/2016/63</u>.
- Bohmann, K., Evans, A., Gilbert, M. T. P., Carvalho, G. R., Creer, S., Knapp, M., . . . de Bruyn, M. (2014). Environmental DNA for wildlife biology and biodiversity monitoring. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 29(6), 358-367. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2014.04.003
- Bowden, W. (1987). The biogeochemistry of nitrogen in freshwater wetlands. *Biogeochemistry*, 4(3), 313-348. doi:10.1007/BF02187373
- Bullock, A., & Acreman, M. (2003). The role of wetlands in the hydrological cycle. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 7(3), 358-389. doi:10.5194/hess-7-358-2003
- Bunn, S. E., Abal, E. G., Smith, M. J., Choy, S. C., Fellows, C. S., Harch, B. D., . . . Sheldon, F. (2010). Integration of science and monitoring of river ecosystem health to guide investments in catchment protection and rehabilitation. *Freshwater Biology*, 55(s1), 223-240. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2009.02375.x
- Bureau of Meteorology. (2019). Climate Data Online. from Australian Government <u>http://www.bom.gov.au/</u>
- Burns, M., & Ellison, S. (2011). The fitness for purpose of randomised experimental designs for analysis of genetically modified ingredients. *European Food Research and Technology*, 233(1), 71-78. doi:10.1007/s00217-011-1485-x
- Burton, T. M. (2009). Swamps Wooded Wetlands. In G. E. Likens (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Inland Waters* (pp. 549-557). Oxford: Academic Press.
- Bush, A., Nipperess, D., Turak, E., & Hughes, L. (2012). Determining vulnerability of stream communities to climate change at the landscape scale. *Freshwater Biology*, 57(8), 1689-1701. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012.02835.x
- Caporaso, J. G., Lauber, C. L., Walters, W. A., Berg-Lyons, D., Huntley, J., Fierer, N., . . . Knight, R. (2012). Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. *The ISME Journal*, *6*(8), 1621-1624. doi:10.1038/ismej.2012.8
- Cardinale, B. J., Matulich, K. L., Hooper, D. U., Byrnes, J. E., Duffy, E., Gamfeldt, L., . . . Gonzalez, A. (2011). The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. *American Journal of Botany*, *98*(3), 572-592. doi:10.3732/ajb.1000364
- Carey, A. (2007). Protecting swamp communities in the Blue Mountains. *Australasian Plant Conservation: Journal of the Australian Network for Plant Conservation, 16*(2), 14.
- Chariton, A. A., Court, L. N., Hartley, D. M., Colloff, M. J., & Hardy, C. M. (2010). Ecological assessment of estuarine sediments by pyrosequencing eukaryotic ribosomal DNA. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(5), 233-238. doi:10.1890/090115
- Chariton, A. A., Sun, M., Gibson, J., Webb, J. A., Leung, K. M. Y., Hickey, C. W., & Hose, G. C. (2016). Emergent technologies and analytical approaches for understanding the effects of

multiple stressors in aquatic environments. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 67(4), 414-428. doi:10.1071/MF15190

- Christiansen, N., Fryirs, K. A., Green, T., & Hose, G. C. (2019). The impact of urbanisation on community structure, gene abundance and transcription rates of microbes in upland swamps of Eastern Australia. *Plos One, 14*(3), e0213275. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0213275
- Civade, R., Dejean, T., Valentini, A., Roset, N., Raymond, J.-C., Bonin, A., ... Pont, D. (2016). Spatial representativeness of environmental DNA metabarcoding signal for fish biodiversity assessment in a natural freshwater system. *Plos One*, *11*(6), e0157366. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0157366
- Clymo, R. S., Turunen, J., & Tolonen, K. (1998). Carbon accumulation in peatland. *Oikos*, *81*(2), 368-388. doi:10.2307/3547057
- Cole, J. R., Wang, Q., Fish, J. A., Chai, B., McGarrell, D. M., Sun, Y., . . . Tiedje, J. M. (2013). Ribosomal Database Project: data and tools for high throughput rRNA analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(D1), D633-D642. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt1244
- Commonwealth of Australia. (2014). *Temperate Highland Peat Swamps on Sandstone: ecological characteristics, sensitivities to change, and monitoring and reporting techniques, Knowledge report.* Retrieved from Canberra: <u>http://environment.gov.au/system/files/resources/1fd762d9-7e35-4299-ba57-79297d735487/files/peat-swamp-ecological-characteristics.pdf</u>
- Cordeiro, C. A. M. M., & Costa, T. M. (2010). Evaluation of solid residues removed from a mangrove swamp in the São Vicente Estuary, SP, Brazil. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 60(10), 1762-1767. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.06.010
- Cowley, K., Fryirs, K. A., & Hose, G. C. (2018a). The hydrological function of upland swamps in eastern Australia: the role of geomorphic condition in regulating water storage and discharge. *Geomorphology*, *310*(2018), 29-44. doi:10.1016/j.geomorph.2018.03.004
- Cowley, K., Looman, A., Maher, D., & Fryirs, K. A. (2018b). Geomorphic controls on fluvial carbon exports and emissions from upland swamps in eastern Australia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 618(2018), 765-776. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.133
- Dafforn, K. A., Baird, D. J., Chariton, A. A., Sun, M. Y., Brown, M. V., Simpson, S. L., . . .
 Johnston, E. L. (2014). Chapter One Faster, higher and stronger? The pros and cons of molecular faunal data for assessing ecosystem condition. In G. Woodward, A. J. Dumbrell, D. J. Baird, & M. Hajibabaei (Eds.), *Advances in Ecological Research* (Vol. 51, pp. 1-40): Academic Press.
- Dawson, M., & Hamner, W. (2008). A biophysical perspective on dispersal and the geography of evolution in marine and terrestrial systems. *Journal of the Royal Society*, 5, 135-150. doi:10.1098/rsif.2007.1089
- Deb, J. C., Rahman, H. M. T., & Roy, A. (2016). Freshwater swamp forest trees of Bangladesh face extinction risk from climate change. *Wetlands*, *36*(2), 323-334. doi:10.1007/s13157-016-0741-z
- DEC. (2006). The vegetation of the Western Blue Mountains Department of Environment and Conservation. Retrieved from Hurstville, NSW: <u>https://www.environment.nsw.gov.au/resources/nature/vegOfWbluemtsVol1Tech.pdf</u>

- Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Oliverio, A. M., Brewer, T. E., Benavent-González, A., Eldridge, D. J., Bardgett, R. D., . . . Fierer, N. (2018). A global atlas of the dominant bacteria found in soil. *Science*, 359(6373), 320. doi:10.1126/science.aap9516
- Delmont, T. O., Quince, C., Shaiber, A., Esen, Ö. C., Lee, S. T. M., Rappé, M. S., ... Eren, A. M. (2018). Nitrogen-fixing populations of Planctomycetes and Proteobacteria are abundant in surface ocean metagenomes. *Nature Microbiology*, 3(7), 804-813. doi:10.1038/s41564-018-0176-9
- Dray, S., & Dufour, A. (2007). The ade4 package: implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 22(4), 1-20. doi:10.18637/jss.v022.i04
- Dubey, S., & Shine, R. (2010). Restricted dispersal and genetic diversity in populations of an endangered montane lizard (*Eulamprus leuraensis, Scincidae*). *Molecular Ecology, 19*(5), 886-897. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04539.x
- Edgar, R. C. (2013). UPARSE: Highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads. *Nature Methods, 10*, 996. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2604
- Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act. (1999). *Federal legislation*. Australia: Australian Government Retrieved from <u>https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2016C00777</u>.
- Evrard, O., Laceby, J. P., Ficetola, G. F., Gielly, L., Huon, S., Lefèvre, I., . . . Poulenard, J. (2019). Environmental DNA provides information on sediment sources: a study in catchments affected by Fukushima radioactive fallout. *Science of the Total Environment*, 665, 873-881. doi:org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.02.191
- Farías, M., Contreras, M., Rasuk, M., Kurth, D., Flores, M., Poiré, D., . . . Visscher, P. (2014). Characterization of bacterial diversity associated with microbial mats, gypsum evaporites and carbonate microbialites in thalassic wetlands: Tebenquiche and La Brava, Salar de Atacama, Chile. *Microbial Life Under Extreme Conditions*, 18(2), 311-329. doi:10.1007/s00792-013-0617-6
- Fernandes, K., van der Heyde, M., Bunce, M., Dixon, K., Harris, R. J., Wardell-Johnson, G., & Nevill, P. G. (2018). DNA metabarcoding—a new approach to fauna monitoring in mine site restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 26(6), 1098-1107. doi:10.1111/rec.12868
- Ficetola, G. F., Miaud, C., Pompanon, F., & Taberlet, P. (2008). Species detection using environmental DNA from water samples. *Biology Letters*, 4(4), 423-425. doi:10.1098/rsbl.2008.0118
- Fierer, N., & Jackson, R. B. (2006). The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103(3), 626. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507535103
- Fierer, N., Schimel, J. P., & Holden, P. A. (2003). Influence of drying–rewetting frequency on soil bacterial community structure. *Microbial Ecology*, 45(1), 63-71. doi:10.1007/s00248-002-1007-2
- Finlayson, C., Davis, J., Gell, P., Kingsford, R., & Parton, K. (2013). The status of wetlands and the predicted effects of global climate change: the situation in Australia. *Research Across Boundaries*, 75(1), 73-93. doi:10.1007/s00027-011-0232-5

- Freidman, B., & Fryirs, K. A. (2015). Rehabilitating upland swamps using environmental histories: A case study of the Blue Mountains Peat Swamps, Eastern Australia. *Physical Geography*, 97(2), 337-353. doi:10.1111/geoa.12068
- Fryirs, K. A., Farebrother, W., & Hose, G. C. (2019). Understanding the spatial distribution and physical attributes of upland swamps in the Sydney Basin as a template for their conservation and management. *Australian Geographer*, 50(1), 91-110. doi:10.1080/00049182.2018.1449710
- Fryirs, K. A., Freidman, B., Williams, R., & Jacobsen, G. (2014). Peatlands in Eastern Australia? Sedimentology and age structure of Temperate Highland Peat Swamps on Sandstone (THPSS) in the Southern Highlands and Blue Mountains of NSW, Australia. *The Holocene*, 24(11), 1527-1538. doi:10.1177/0959683614544064
- Fryirs, K. A., & Hose, G. C. (2016). Temperate Highland Peat Swamps on Sandstone (THPSS) spatial distribution maps VIS_IDs 4480 to 4485. Available from Data NSW from Macquarie University <u>https://data.nsw.gov.au/data/dataset/temperate-highland-peat-swamps-on-sandstone-thpss-vegetation-maps-vis-ids-4480-to-4485</u>
- Goodsell, P. J., Underwood, A. J., & Chapman, M. G. (2009). Evidence necessary for taxa to be reliable indicators of environmental conditions or impacts. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 58(3), 323-331. doi:org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2008.10.011
- Gorissen, S., Greenlees, M., & Shine, R. (2017). A skink out of water: impacts of anthropogenic disturbance on an Endangered reptile in Australian highland swamps. *Oryx*, *51*(4), 610-618. doi:10.1017/S0030605316000442
- Green, J. L., Holmes, A. J., Westoby, M., Oliver, I., Briscoe, D., Dangerfield, M., . . . Beattie, A. J. (2004). Spatial scaling of microbial eukaryote diversity. *Nature*, 432(7018), 747-750. doi:10.1038/nature03034
- Hagström, Å., Pinhassi, J., & Zweifel, U. (2000). Biogeographical diversity among marine bacterioplankton. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, 21, 231-244. doi:10.3354/ame021231
- Hardy, C. M., Krull, E. S., Hartley, D. M., & Oliver, R. L. (2010). Carbon source accounting for fish using combined DNA and stable isotope analyses in a regulated lowland river weir pool. *Molecular Ecology*, 19(1), 197-212. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04411.x
- He, G., Yi, F., Zhou, S., & Lin, J. (2014). Microbial activity and community structure in two terrace-type wetlands constructed for the treatment of domestic wastewater. *Ecological Engineering*, 67, 198-205. doi:org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.03.079
- Heiri, O., Lotter, A., & Lemcke, G. (2001). Loss on ignition as a method for estimating organic and carbonate content in sediments: reproducibility and comparability of results. *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 25(1), 101-110. doi:10.1023/A:1008119611481
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E. K., Hungate, B. A., Matulich, K. L., . . . O'Connor, M. I. (2012). A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature*, 486(7401), 105-108. doi:10.1038/nature11118
- Hopkins, G. W., & Freckleton, R. P. (2002). Declines in the numbers of amateur and professional taxonomists: implications for conservation. *Animal Conservation*, 5(3), 245-249. doi:10.1017/S1367943002002299

- Horwitz, P., & Finlayson, C. M. (2011). Wetlands as settings for human health: incorporating ecosystem services and health impact assessment into water resource management. *Bioscience*, 61(9), 678-688. doi:10.1525/bio.2011.61.9.6
- Hose, G. C. (2009). Stygofauna baseline assessment for Kangaloon Borefield investigations -Southern Highlands, NSW. Supplementary Report–Stygofauna molecular studies. Report to Sydney Catchment Authority, Access Macquarie Ltd, North Ryde.
- Hose, G. C., Bailey, J., Stumpp, C., & Fryirs, K. A. (2014). Groundwater depth and topography correlate with vegetation structure of an upland peat swamp, Budderoo Plateau, NSW, Australia. *Ecohydrology*, 7(5), 1392-1402. doi:10.1002/eco.1465
- Hose, G. C., Fryirs, K. A., Bailey, J., Ashby, N., White, T., & Stumpp, C. (2017). Different depths, different fauna: habitat influences on the distribution of groundwater invertebrates. *Hydrobiologia*, 797(1), 145. doi:10.1007/s10750-017-3166-7
- Hughes, L. (2003). Climate change and Australia: Trends, projections and impacts. *Austral Ecology*, 28(4), 423-443. doi:10.1046/j.1442-9993.2003.01300.x
- Jankowski, J. (2010). Surface water-groundwater interaction in the fractured sandstone aquifer impacted by mining-induced subsidence: 2. Hydrogeochemistry. *Congress, Published in Biuletyn Pañstwowego Instytutu Geologicznego*, 43-54.
- Kayranli, B., Scholz, M., Mustafa, A., & Hedmark, Å. (2010). Carbon storage and fluxes within freshwater wetlands: A critical review. *Wetlands*, *30*(1), 111-124. doi:10.1007/s13157-009-0003-4
- Keith, D., & Benson, D. (1988). The natural vegetation of the Katoomba 1:100000 map sheet. *Cunninghamia*, 2, 107-143.
- Keith, D., & Myerscough, P. (1993). Floristics and soil relations of upland swamp vegetation near Sydney. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, 18(3), 325-344. doi:10.1111/j.1442-9993.1993.tb00460.x
- Keith, D., Rodoreda, S., & Bedward, M. (2010). Decadal change in wetland–woodland boundaries during the late 20th century reflects climatic trends. *Global Change Biology*, 16(8), 2300-2306. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02072.x
- Keith, D., Rodoreda, S., Holman, L., & Lemmon, J. (2006). Monitoring change in upland swamps in Sydney's water catchments: the roles of fire and rain. Retrieved from Sydney, Australia.: Sydney Catchment Authority Special Areas Strategic Management Research and Data Program, Project No. RD07.
- Krogh, M. (2007). Management of longwall coal mining impacts in Sydney's southern drinking water catchments. Australasian Journal of Environmental Management, 14(3), 155-165. doi:10.1080/14486563.2007.9725163
- Laroche, O., Pochon, X., Tremblay, L., Ellis, J., Lear, G., & Wood, S. (2018a). Incorporating molecular-based functional and co-occurrence network properties into benthic marine impact assessments. *FEMS Microbial Ecology*, 94. doi:10.1093/femsec/fiy167
- Laroche, O., Wood, S. A., Tremblay, L. A., Ellis, J. I., Lear, G., & Pochon, X. (2018b). A crosstaxa study using environmental DNA/RNA metabarcoding to measure biological impacts of

offshore oil and gas drilling and production operations. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 127, 97-107. doi:org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.11.042

- Leeder, A., Palma-Guerrero, J., & Glass, N. (2011). The social network: deciphering fungal language. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(6), 440-451. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2580
- Lehner, B., & Doll, P. (2004). Development and validation of a global database of lakes, reservoirs and wetlands. *Journal of Hydrology*, 296(1-4), 1-22. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.03.028
- Li, T., Hu, H., Li, Z., Zhang, J., & Li, D. (2018). The impact of irrigation on bacterial community composition and diversity in Liaohe estuary wetland. *Oceanic and Coastal Sea Research*, *17*(4), 855-863. doi:10.1007/s11802-018-3391-3
- Louca, S., Parfrey, L. W., & Doebeli, M. (2016). Decoupling function and taxonomy in the global ocean microbiome. *Science*, *353*(6305), 1272. doi:10.1126/science.aaf4507
- Mackintosh, T. J., Davis, J. A., & Thompson, R. M. (2015). The influence of urbanisation on macroinvertebrate biodiversity in constructed stormwater wetlands. *Science of the Total Environment*, 536, 527-537. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.066
- McLaughlin, D. L., & Cohen, M. J. (2013). Realizing ecosystem services: wetland hydrologic function along a gradient of ecosystem condition. *Ecological Applications*, 23(7), 1619-1631. doi:10.1890/12-1489.1
- Murray, D. C., Coghlan, M. L., & Bunce, M. (2015). From benchtop to desktop: important considerations when designing amplicon sequencing workflows. *Plos One*, 10(4), e0124671. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0124671
- Nakamura, A., Burwell, C. J., Lambkin, C. L., Katabuchi, M., McDougall, A., Raven, R. J., & Neldner, V. J. (2015). The role of human disturbance in island biogeography of arthropods and plants: an information theoretic approach. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42(8), 1406-1417. doi:10.1111/jbi.12520
- NSW Department of Planning & Environment. (2015). *Mining Impacts at Dendrobium Coal Mine Area 3B*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.planning.nsw.gov.au/~/media/Files/DPE/Reports/mining-impacts-at-</u> <u>dendrobium-coal-mine-area-3b-2015-12.ashx</u>
- O'Driscoll, M., Clinton, S., Jefferson, A., Manda, A., & McMillan, S. (2010). Urbanization effects on watershed hydrology and in-stream processes in the Southern United States. *Water*, 2(3), 605-648. doi:10.3390/w2030605
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., . . . Wagner, H. (2019). Vegan: community ecology package (Version 2.5-5, R package). Retrieved from <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan</u>
- Panikov, N. S. (1999). Understanding and prediction of soil microbial community dynamics under global change. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 11(2), 161-176. doi:org/10.1016/S0929-1393(98)00143-7
- Pansu, J., Giguet-Covex, C., Ficetola, G. F., Gielly, L., Boyer, F., Zinger, L., . . . Choler, P. (2015). Reconstructing long-term human impacts on plant communities: an ecological approach based on lake sediment DNA. *Molecular Ecology*, 24(7), 1485-1498. doi:10.1111/mec.13136

- Pemberton, M. (2005). Australian peatlands: A brief consideration of their origin, distribution, natural values and threats. *Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia*, 88, 81-89.
- Pielou, E. C. (1966). The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 13, 131-144. doi:10.1016/0022-5193(66)90013-0
- Pompanon, F., Coissac, É., & Taberlet, P. (2011). Metabarcoding, a new way of analysing biodiversity. *Biofutur, 319*, 30-32.
- Posa, M. R. C., Wijedasa, L. S., & Corlett, R. T. (2011). Biodiversity and conservation of tropical peat swamp forests. *Bioscience*, *61*(1), 49-57. doi:10.1525/bio.2011.61.1.10
- Qian, H., & Ricklefs, R. E. (2012). Disentangling the effects of geographic distance and environmental dissimilarity on global patterns of species turnover. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 21(3), 341-351. doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00672.x
- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., . . . Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and webbased tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(Database issue), D590-D596. doi:10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Quinn, G. P., & Keough, M. J. (2002). *Experimental design and data analysis for biologists*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- R_Core_Team. (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing (Version 3.5.1): R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>
- Ramsar: Convention on Wetlands of International Importance, (1971), United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).
- Ranjard, L., Lejon, D., Mougel, C., Schehrer, L., Merdinoglu, D., & Chaussod, R. (2003). Sampling strategy in molecular microbial ecology: influence of soil sample size on DNA fingerprinting analysis of fungal and bacterial communities. *Environmental Microbiology*, 5, 1111-1120. doi:10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00521.x
- Rosenberg, R. (2001). Marine benthic faunal successional stages and related sedimentary activity. *Scientia Marina*, 65, 107-119. doi:10.3989/scimar.2001.65s2107
- Shannon, C. E. (1948). A mathematical theory of communication. *Bell System Technical Journal*, 27(3), 379-423. doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1948.tb01338.x
- Shokralla, S., Spall, J. L., Gibson, J. F., & Hajibabaei, M. (2012). Next-generation sequencing technologies for environmental DNA research. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(8), 1794-1805. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05538.x
- Sigee, D. C. (2005). Freshwater microbiology: biodiversity and dynamic interactions of microorganisms in the aquatic environment. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Smith, V. H. (2003). Eutrophication of freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems A global problem. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 10(2), 126-139. doi:10.1065/espr2002.12.142
- Staley, J. T., & Reysenbach, A.-L. (2002). *Biodiversity of microbial life: foundations of Earth's biosphere*. New York, America: Wiley.

- Stat, M., Huggett, M. J., Bernasconi, R., DiBattista, J. D., Berry, T. E., Newman, S. J., . . . Bunce, M. (2017). Ecosystem biomonitoring with eDNA: metabarcoding across the tree of life in a tropical marine environment. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 12240. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-12501-5
- Stirling, G., & Wilsey, B. (2001). Empirical relationships between species richness, evenness, and proportional diversity. *The American Naturalist*, *158*(3), 286-299. doi:10.1086/321317
- Sutcliffe, B., Hose, G. C., Harford, A. J., Midgley, D. J., Greenfield, P., Paulsen, I. T., & Chariton, A. A. (2019). Microbial communities are sensitive indicators for freshwater sediment copper contamination. *Environmental Pollution*, 247, 1028-1038. doi:doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.01.104
- Taberlet, P., Prud'homme, S., Campione, E., Roy, J., Miquel, C., Shehzad, W., . . . Coissac, E. (2012). Soil sampling and isolation of extracellular DNA from large amount of starting material suitable for metabarcoding studies. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(8), 1816-1820. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05317.x
- Thomsen, P. F., Kielgast, J. O. S., Iversen, L. L., Wiuf, C., Rasmussen, M., Gilbert, M. T. P., . . . Willerslev, E. (2012). Monitoring endangered freshwater biodiversity using environmental DNA. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(11), 2565-2573. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05418.x
- Thomsen, P. F., & Willerslev, E. (2015). Environmental DNA An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity. *Biological Conservation*, *183*, 4-18. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.019
- Threatened Species Conservation Act. (1995). *NSW legislation*. NSW Government: Minister for the Environment Retrieved from <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/~/view/act/1995/101/</u>.
- Treague, J. J., & Abbott, S. (2003). Geological context of peat deposition in Cumbebin Swamp, northeastern New South Wales a geological framework for carbon sequestration studies. In (Vol. 35, pp. 191). Boulder, CO: Boulder, CO, United States: Geological Society of America (GSA).
- Villa, J. A., & Mitsch, W. J. (2015). Carbon sequestration in different wetland plant communities in the Big Cypress Swamp region of southwest Florida. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services & Management, 11*(1), 17-28. doi:10.1080/21513732.2014.973909
- von Mering, C., Hugenholtz, P., Raes, J., Tringe, S. G., Doerks, T., Jensen, L. J., . . . Bork, P. (2007). Quantitative phylogenetic assessment of microbial communities in diverse environments. *Science*, *315*(5815), 1126. doi:10.1126/science.1133420
- Webb, J. A., Wallis, E. M., & Stewardson, M. J. (2012). A systematic review of published evidence linking wetland plants to water regime components. *Aquatic Botany*, 103, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.aquabot.2012.06.003
- Weisburg, W. G., Barns, S. M., Pelletier, D. A., & Lane, D. J. (1991). 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic study. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 173(2), 697-703. doi:10.1128/jb.173.2.697-703.1991
- Whinam, J., Hope, G. S., Clarkson, B. R., Buxton, R. P., Alspach, P. A., & Adam, P. (2003). Sphagnum in peatlands of Australasia: Their distribution, utilisation and management. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 11(1-2), 37-49. doi:10.1023/A:1022005504855

- Wright, I. A., Belmer, N., & Davies, P. J. (2017). Coal mine water pollution and ecological impairment of one of Australia's most 'Protected' high conservation-value rivers. Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 228(3). doi:10.1007/s11270-017-3278-8
- Wright, I. A., Wright, S., Graham, K., & Burgin, S. (2011). Environmental protection and management: A water pollution case study within the Greater Blue Mountains World Heritage Area, Australia. *Land Use Policy*, 28(1), 353-360. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2010.07.002
- Wrona, F. J., Prowse, T. D., Reist, J. D., Hobbie, J. E., Levesque, L. M. J., & Vincent, W. F. (2006). Climate change effects on aquatic biota, ecosystem structure and function. *Ambio*, 35(7), 359-369. doi:10.1579/0044-7447(2006)35[359:Cceoab]2.0.Co;2
- Yoccoz, N. G. (2012). The future of environmental DNA in ecology. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(8), 2031-2038. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05505.x
- Young, A. (2017). *Upland Swamps of the Sydney Basin*. Thirroul, NSW: Ann Young and Colong Foundation for Wilderness
- Yule, C. M. (2010). Loss of biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in Indo-Malayan peat swamp forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 19(2), 393-409. doi:10.1007/s10531-008-9510-5
- Zhang, H., John, R., Peng, Z., Yuan, J., Chu, C., Du, G., & Zhou, S. (2012). The relationship between species richness and evenness in plant communities along a successional gradient: a study from sub-alpine meadows of the Eastern Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau, China. *Plos One*, 7(11), e49024-e49024. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049024
- Zhang, W., Parker, K. M., Luo, Y., Wan, S., Wallace, L. L., & Hu, S. (2005). Soil microbial responses to experimental warming and clipping in a tallgrass prairie. *Global Change Biology*, 11(2), 266-277. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00902.x
- Zhao, D., He, H. S., Wang, W. J., Liu, J., Du, H., Wu, M., & Tan, X. (2018). Distribution and driving factors of Forest Swamp conversions in a cold temperate region. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(10). doi:10.3390/ijerph15102103
- Zinger, L., Chave, J., Coissac, E., Iribar, A., Louisanna, E., Manzi, S., . . . Taberlet, P. (2016). Extracellular DNA extraction is a fast, cheap and reliable alternative for multi-taxa surveys based on soil DNA. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 96(C), 16-19. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.01.008



Blue Mountains Swamp Sites

Figure S1: Blue Mountains (BM) region with swamp sites outlines in red and sample locations in green. Map was created with ArcGIS software by Esri. Data on each swamps' spatial distribution was sourced from Fryirs and Hose (2016).



Upper Nepean State Conservation Area Swamp Sites

Figure S2: Upper Nepean State Conservation Area (SCA) region with swamp sites outlines in red and sample locations in green. Map was created with ArcGIS software by Esri. Data on each swamps' spatial distribution was sourced from Fryirs and Hose (2016)



Budderoo National Park Swamp Sites

Figure S3: Budderoo National Park (BNP) region with swamp sites outlines in red and sample locations in green. Map was created with ArcGIS software by Esri. Data on each swamps' spatial distribution was sourced from Fryirs and Hose (2016).

Table S1: Positive control mixes

Three positive control mixes for 16S and 18S rDNA were created to simulate an artificial environmental community which would not be naturally found within the sample regions. The quantities of each species DNA varied between the mixtures as follows: mix 1 was an equimolar mixture, mix 2 used decreasing concentrations of samples, and mix 3 increasing concentrations of samples. DNA samples used for positive control mixes were limited, as such for Mix 3 *Carcharias Taurus* was swapped with *Negaprion brevirostris*.

| | | N | Mix 1 | | Mix 2 | | Mix 3 | |
|---------------------------------|-------------------------------------|-----|-------------------------|------|-------------------------|------|-------------------------|--|
| Species | Initial Concentration (ng/µL) | [C] | Volume added (µL) | [C] | Volume added (µL) | [C] | Volume added (μL) | |
| Litopenaeus vannamei | 9.85 | 100 | 10.15 | 100 | 101.52 | 0.78 | 0.79 | |
| Metasequoia glyptostroboides | 21.03 | 100 | 4.76 | 50 | 23.78 | 1.56 | 0.74 | |
| Saccostrea glomerata | 113.50 | 100 | 0.88 | 25 | 2.20 | 3.13 | 0.27 | |
| Syngonium podophyllum | 7.43 | 100 | 13.46 | 12.5 | 16.82 | 6.25 | 8.41 | |
| Liriodendron tulipifera | 3.36 | 100 | 29.76 | 12.5 | 37.20 | NA | NA | |
| Lates niloticus | 7.63 | 100 | 13.11 | 6.25 | 8.20 | 12.5 | 16.39 | |
| Sparisoma axillare | 107.75 | 100 | 0.93 | 3.13 | 0.29 | 25 | 2.32 | |
| Carcinus maenas | 8.23 | 100 | 12.15 | 1.56 | 1.90 | 50 | 20.00 | |
| Carcharias taurus | 56.25 | 100 | 1.78 | 0.78 | 0.14 | NA | NA | |
| Negaprion brevirostris | 0.22 | NA | NA | NA | NA | 100 | 220.00 | |

| Site | OTU count | Chao1 | Chao1 Standard Error | Percentage covered (%) |
|------|-----------|---------|-------------------------|------------------------|
| BMGC | 2998 | 4521.88 | 120.61 | 66.30 |
| BMPR | 3317 | 5077.08 | 133.69 | 65.33 |
| BMTR | 4280 | 7018.68 | 172.87 | 60.98 |
| BNP3 | 3128 | 4834.77 | 131.60 | 64.70 |
| BNP4 | 4081 | 6826.93 | 172.82 | 59.78 |
| BNP6 | 3500 | 5378.98 | 130.73 | 65.07 |
| SCA2 | 4278 | 6635.44 | 153.39 | 64.47 |
| SCA3 | 3851 | 5894.93 | 138.00 | 65.33 |
| SCA8 | 3232 | 5056.29 | 141.73 | 63.92 |

Table S2: Prokaryotic Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) counts and estimates of richness with

 Chao1

Table S3: Diversity and composition of prokaryotic communities at a region level, values based on averages per site.

| Region | OTU richness | Shannon diversity (H) | Pielou's evenness (J') |
|--------|--------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| BM | 3532 | 6.91 | 0.847 |
| BNP | 3570 | 6.91 | 0.845 |
| SCA | 3787 | 6.98 | 0.847 |

| Site | OTU richness | Shannon diversity (H) | Pielou's evenness (J') |
|------|--------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| BMGC | 1819 | 6.60 | 0.879 |
| BMPR | 2019 | 6.69 | 0.880 |
| BMTR | 2431 | 6.76 | 0.867 |
| BNP3 | 1923 | 6.62 | 0.876 |
| BNP4 | 2117 | 6.59 | 0.862 |
| BNP6 | 1936 | 6.63 | 0.879 |
| SCA2 | 2330 | 6.79 | 0.876 |
| SCA3 | 2314 | 6.73 | 0.870 |
| SCA8 | 2027 | 6.60 | 0.867 |

Table S4: Diversity and composition of prokaryotic communities at a site level, values based on averages per plot

Table S5: Variance component analysis of prokaryotic operational taxonomic unit (OTU)communities displaying percentage of variance explained by Region, Site, Plot and Residuals.

| | No. levels | Source | MS | est. var. | % of variance |
|------------|------------|----------------------|------|-----------|---------------|
| Region | 3 | Region | 2.24 | 0.01 | 0.04 |
| Site | 3 | Site (Region) | 1.61 | 0.06 | 0.25 |
| Plot | 3 | Plot (Site (Region)) | 0.32 | 0.03 | 0.10 |
| Replicates | 7 | Residual | 0.15 | 0.15 | 0.60 |



Figure S4: Distance and community dissimilarity plot of prokaryotic community assemblages within sites, regression line in red showing adjusted R^2 value.

| Site | OTU count | Chao1 | Chao1 Standard Error | Percentage covered (%) |
|------|-----------|--------|-------------------------|------------------------|
| BMGC | 351 | 524.23 | 39.16 | 66.95 |
| BMPR | 346 | 506.92 | 36.70 | 68.26 |
| BMTR | 419 | 654.35 | 47.09 | 64.03 |
| BNP3 | 391 | 556.32 | 35.31 | 70.28 |
| BNP4 | 434 | 729.78 | 57.59 | 59.47 |
| BNP6 | 400 | 581.62 | 37.59 | 68.77 |
| SCA2 | 412 | 599.89 | 39.44 | 68.68 |
| SCA3 | 367 | 518.14 | 34.55 | 70.83 |
| SCA8 | 374 | 554.96 | 39.93 | 67.39 |

Table S6: Eukaryotic Operational Taxonomic Unit (OTU) counts and estimates of richness with

 Chao1

Table S7: Diversity and composition of eukaryotic communities at a region level, values based on averages per site.

| Region | OTU richness | Shannon diversity (H) | Pielou's evenness (J') |
|--------|--------------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| BM | 372 | 5.10 | 0.862 |
| BNP | 408 | 5.19 | 0.863 |
| SCA | 384 | 5.13 | 0.863 |

| | Site OTU rid | chness Shannon diver | sity (H) Pielou's evenness (J') |
|------|--------------|----------------------|---------------------------------|
| BMGC | 20. | 5 4.68 | 0.880 |
| BMPR | 20. | 3 4.69 | 0.882 |
| BMTR | 23. | 5 4.54 | 0.832 |
| BNP3 | 22 | 7 4.68 | 0.863 |
| BNP4 | 22 | 6 4.66 | 0.860 |
| BNP6 | 21. | 5 4.63 | 0.862 |
| SCA2 | 20 | 4 4.50 | 0.847 |
| SCA3 | 21 | 9 4.67 | 0.866 |
| SCA8 | 222 | 2 4.81 | 0.890 |

Table S8: Diversity and composition of eukaryotic communities at a site level, values based on averages per plot

Table S9: Variance component analysis of eukaryotic operational taxonomic unit (OTU)communities displaying percentage of variance explained by Region, Site, Plot and Residuals.

| | No. levels | Source | MS | est. var. | % of variance |
|------------|------------|----------------------|------|-----------|---------------|
| Region | 3 | Region | 3.07 | 0.02 | 0.05 |
| Site | 3 | Site (Region) | 2.01 | 0.07 | 0.20 |
| Plot | 3 | Plot (Site (Region)) | 0.57 | 0.05 | 0.15 |
| Replicates | 7 | Residual | 0.21 | 0.21 | 0.60 |



Figure S5: Distance and community dissimilarity plot of eukaryotic community assemblages within sites, regression line in red showing adjusted R^2 value.